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Report of Independent Auditors 

 
 
To the members of the Kenton 
  County Airport Board  
Hebron, Kentucky 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial statements (hereby referred to as the 
financial statements) of the business-type activities and the internal service fund of the 
Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky International Airport (hereby referred to as the Airport), which is 
controlled and operated by the Kenton County Airport Board, as of and for the years ended December 31, 
2014 and 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Airport’s financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the basis of accounting as prescribed by various revenue bond resolutions and use 
agreements.  Management is also responsible for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal 
control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express our opinions on the financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America.  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinions. 



  

 

To the members of the Kenton 
  County Airport Board  
Hebron, Kentucky 
 
Page Two 
 
 
Opinions 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the business-type activities and the internal service fund of the Airport as 
of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the respective changes in its financial position and cash flows 
thereof for the years then ended in accordance with the basis of accounting described in Note 1 to the 
financial statements. 
 
Basis of Accounting 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements, which describes the basis of accounting.  The 
financial statements are prepared on the basis accounting as prescribed by various revenue bond 
resolutions and use agreements rather than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America.  Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter. 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 
The basis of accounting described in Note 1 requires that the management’s discussion and analysis, as 
listed in the table of contents, be presented to supplement the financial statements.  Such information, 
although not a part of the financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context.  We have applied certain limited procedures 
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquires of management about the methods of preparing the 
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the financial 
statements.  We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the 
limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
 

 
 

Lexington, KY 
June 15, 2015 
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The following discussion and analysis of the financial performance and activity of the 
Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky International Airport (the “Airport”) provides an introduction and 
understanding of the Airport’s special purpose financial statements (herein referred to as the “financial 
statements”) for the calendar year ended December 31, 2014 with selected comparative information for 
the years ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.  This discussion has been prepared by 
management and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and the notes thereto. 

1. Introduction 

The Kenton County Airport Board (the “Board”) was created pursuant to a resolution of the Fiscal 
Court of Kenton County, Kentucky adopted on June 3, 1943 and has jurisdiction, control, 
possession and supervision of the Airport.  Under the provisions of Chapter 183 of the Kentucky 
Revised Statutes and by the terms of such resolution, the Board has been created and organized as a 
public body politic and corporate. 

The operations of the Airport are self-supporting and generate revenues from airport users to fund 
all operating expenses and debt service requirements.  Capital projects are funded through the 
issuance of bonds, the collection of Passenger Facility Charges (“PFCs”), the collection of 
Customer Facility Charges (“CFCs”), the receipt of federal and state grants and internally 
generated funds. 

2. Airport Activity 

The Airport serves as the primary airport for scheduled passenger service for the Cincinnati 
Consolidated Metropolitan Statistical Area. As of December 31, 2014, scheduled passenger service 
at the Airport was provided by eight airline groups through a total of twenty-seven mainline and 
regional carriers.  Scheduled cargo service was provided by two cargo airlines.  The Airport is a 
Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) hub and serves as DHL Express Inc.’s Network Operations (USA), 
Inc. (“DHL”) U.S. international sorting hub.   

Selected activity statistics for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 are as follows: 

2014 2013 2012

Enplaned passengers 2,964,657 2,874,788 3,033,424

Origin passengers(1) 2,299,489 2,171,371 2,112,322

Landed Weights(lbs. 000s)
   Passenger airlines 3,502,443 3,599,538 3,826,226
   Cargo airlines(2) 3,652,864 3,431,112 3,198,074
        Total landed weight 7,155,307 7,030,650 7,024,300

Aircraft operations(3) 128,035 132,673 138,398

(1) as reported to the Airport by the airlines

(2) includes maintenance flights

(3) includes domestic air carriers, international air carriers and air taxi/commuter flights
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According to results reported by the Department of Transportation’s Bureau of Transportation 
Statistics, in 2014, passenger traffic on U.S. airlines and foreign airlines serving the U.S. increased 
2.5% as compared to 2013 levels.  Comparatively, the Airport’s enplaned passenger activity 
increased 3.1% during this same time period after a 5.2% decrease in 2013. The 2014 enplaned 
passenger increase is the result of an increase in the number of passenger airline groups operating 
at the Airport as well as increased enplanements on most for the regularly scheduled carriers, 
except Delta, who operated at the Airport in 2013.   

These enplanement increases were offset in part by a decrease in Delta’s enplanements, which was 
due to the ongoing realignment of its domestic hub system. The continued increase in the other 
airlines’ enplanements can be seen in the 5.9% increase in the number of passengers originating 
their flights from the Airport (see “origin passengers” in the Airport Activity section), which 
followed a 2013 increase of 2.8%.  

Total landed weights at the Airport increased 1.8% in 2014 and .1% in 2013.  These increases 
reflect 2014 and 2013 increases in cargo landing weights of 6.5% and 7.3%, respectively, with 
those increases being partially offset by 2.7% and 5.9% decreases in passenger airline landed 
weights. The positive changes in cargo airline landed weights were due to continued growth by 
DHL after re-establishment of its U.S. international sorting hub at the Airport in July 2009; and the 
decreases in passenger airline landing weights were primarily due to the continued realignment of 
Delta’s domestic hub system.   

Due to the combination of 1) additional passenger airline groups operating at the Airport and 2) 
more seats being filled on the aircraft which operated, 3) less overall passenger aircraft operations 
due to Delta’s continued hub re-alignment, 4) more cargo operations and 5) the significantly larger 
size of the cargo aircraft operating at the Airport as compared to the passenger aircraft, 
enplanements increased during 2013 and total landing weights increased in 2014 and 2013 while 
the number of total aircraft operations declined 3.5% and 4.1% in 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

3. Airline Rates And Charges 

The Airport Use Agreement and Lease of Terminal Facilities (the “use agreements”) in effect with 
American Airlines, Inc., Delta, and United Airlines, Inc., (collectively, the “signatory airlines”) 
governs landing fee rates and other charges to these airlines for the use of Airport facilities.  Each 
use agreement expires on December 31, 2015.  The use agreement landing fee formula is “residual” 
and provides that the signatory airlines pay landing fees in an amount that will make operating 
revenues (landing fees plus all other operating revenues) equal operating expenses plus 125% of 
the required debt service on the Airport’s long-term borrowings (“requirements”). 

Under the use agreements, the signatory airlines pay landing fees during the course of the year at 
the landing fee rate calculated as part of the budget process and at year-end, signatory airline 
landing fees are adjusted to reflect any over/under collection of landing fees based upon the use 
agreement residual landing fee formula.  If it is determined at year-end that there has been an over 
collection of signatory landing fees, the excess landing fees are removed from revenues, recorded 
as a liability entitled “landing fees in excess of requirements” and refunded to the signatory airlines 
over the course of the subsequent year.  If it is determined at year-end that there has been an under 
collection of landing fees, the shortfall must be paid by the signatory airlines within twenty days 
following receipt of notice from the Airport of such shortfall. 
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The Airport is in the process of negotiating a new use agreement with the airlines.  The new 
agreement, which is planned to be effective as of January 1, 2016, will utilize a different rate 
setting methodology consistent with current industry practices and is planned to run for a five year 
term.  

4. Financial Statements  
 
Basis of Accounting and Overview of Financial Statements 
As more fully described in Note 1 to the financial statements, the basis of accounting followed by 
the Airport is designed to account for compliance with various bond resolutions and the use 
agreements.  The Board believes that, in the Airport’s circumstances, the basis of accounting 
followed by the Airport is more appropriate than accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America for state and local governmental units because these policies provide 
more meaningful and useful information to bond holders, airlines and other users of the financial 
statements.  However, the Airport complies with all applicable Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (“GASB”) statements to the extent they do not conflict with the provisions of the 
use agreements or the various bond resolutions. 

The Airport is a business-type activity and, as such, is accounted for as an Enterprise Fund. For 
purposes of financial reporting, the Airport’s Enterprise Fund is segregated into the following 
account groups: Available for Current Operations, Restricted for Debt Service and Restricted for 
Airport Facilities.  These account groups have been established to reflect the flow of funds and 
restrictions under the Airport’s various bond resolutions and use agreements.  Additionally, the 
Airport’s financial statements include an Internal Service Fund (“ISF”) that was established by 
resolution of the Board to account for all activities of the self-funded group health and dental 
coverages provided to employees. The financial statements are prepared on the basis of accounting 
described in Note 1, with this basis of accounting including the recognition of revenues when 
earned and expenses when incurred.   

The Airport’s financial report includes three financial statements for both 2014 and 2013.  The first 
is the Balance Sheet that presents the financial position of the Airport at the end of the fiscal year 
and includes all assets, liabilities and net position (assets minus liabilities) of the Airport.  Net 
position is an indicator of the current fiscal health of the Airport.  The second is the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. The change in net position is an indicator of 
whether the overall fiscal condition of the organization has improved or worsened during the year.  
The third statement is the Statement of Cash Flows.  The Statement of Cash Flows provides 
additional information about the Airport’s financial results by reporting the major sources and uses 
of cash. 
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Balance Sheet 
A summarized comparison of the Airport’s assets, liabilities and net position at December 31, 
2014, 2013 and 2012 is set forth below (in thousands of dollars):   

2014 2013 2012

Assets
Current assets $ 74,030 $ 114,752 $ 120,015
Non-current assets
   Capital assets 756,001 787,919 810,836
   Other non-current assets 157,788 147,630 155,407
        Total assets $ 987,819 $ 1,050,301 $ 1,086,258

Liabilities
Current liabilities $ 23,938 $ 65,933 $ 75,643
Non-current liabilities 61,056 63,635 88,179
       Total liabilities 84,994 129,568 163,822

Net position
Invested in capital assets, net of debt 697,412 702,268 706,922
Restricted 205,413 218,465 215,514
        Total net position                  902,825 920,733 922,436

Total liabilities and net position $ 987,819 $ 1,050,301 $ 1,086,258

 

In 2014, the Airport’s net position decreased by $17.9 million or 1.9 %.  In 2013, the Airport’s net 
position decreased by $1.7 million or 0.2%.  The decrease in 2014 is comprised of a $62.5 million 
decrease in total assets offset in part by a $44.6 million decrease in total liabilities. 

The 2014 decrease in total assets includes a $40.7 million decrease in current assets and a $21.8 
million decrease in non-current assets.  The decrease in current assets is comprised of a net 
decrease in current cash and investment balances, as discussed in the Statement of Cash Flows 
section included herein, as well as a decrease in interaccount group receivables. This decrease in 
interaccount group receivables is primarily related to a reduction in the amount of excess revenues 
over debt service owed to the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group from the Available 
for Current Operations Account Group at year-end 2014 as compared to year-end 2013. This 
decrease in interaccount group receivables is offset in part by amounts owed from the Current 
Operations Account Group to the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group pertaining to the 
signatory airline approved 2014 accumulation of funding for the demolition of excess facilities at 
the Airport.  (see Note 1 to the financial statements).  

Non-current assets decreased due to decreases in the capital assets, net of accumulated 
depreciation, resulting from capital additions in 2014 being less than the combined effect of capital 
retirements and the increase in accumulated depreciation as discussed in the Capital Assets and 
Debt Administration section included herein.  This decrease in capital assets was offset in part by 
an increase in other non-current assets including net increases in the non-current cash and 
investment balances, as discussed later in the Statement of Cash Flows section, as well as an 
increase in the grants and federal awards receivable related to a grant received in 2014 for taxiway 
rehabilitation work. 
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The 2014 decrease in total liabilities includes a $42.0 million decrease in current liabilities and a 
$2.6 million decrease in non-current liabilities.  Contributing to the decrease in current liabilities 
are decreases in interaccount group payables related to the above described reductions in 
interaccount group receivables, as well as decreases in the funded revenue bonds payable and the 
current portion of revenue bonds payable.    

The decreases in both the funded revenue bonds payable as well as the current revenue bonds 
payable resulted from the early redemption of the Series 2002A, 2003C and 2007B bonds on 
March 1, 2014, which were included in the current portion of revenue bonds payable at year-end 
2013, as well as from the early redemption of the March 1, 2015 and 2016 maturities of the Series 
2003B bonds on October 15, 2014 (see Note 6 to the financial statements).  Offsetting these 
decreases was an increase in the liability related to landing fees collected in excess of requirements 
under the use agreements due to prior year excess landing fees not having been fully refunded to 
the signatory airlines as of December 31, 2014.   

Non-current liabilities decreased due to the reduction in long-term revenue bonds payable, which 
was also the result of the early redemption of the March 1, 2015 and 2016 maturities of the Series 
2003B bonds.  
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position 
The analysis below is a summary of the Statements of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net 
Position for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 (in thousands of dollars): 
 

2014 2013 2012
Operating revenues
Field
      Landing fees $ 14,762 $ 24,035 $ 23,683
      Ramp rentals 5,159 4,997 5,140
      Other 149 154 159
   Concessions 36,588 34,666 32,529
   Fixed rentals 19,292 19,074 19,795
   Rebilled services 2,730 2,808 2,972
   Passenger facility charges transferred from airport facilities 5,967 7,443 13,635
   Customer facility charges 4,365 4,305 4,185
   Grants and federal awards 433 467 710
   Police forfeiture revenues transferred from airport facilities 64 85 91
   Investment income 162 255 363
   Miscellaneous 343 285 285
                  Total operating revenues 90,014 98,574 103,547
Operating expenses
   Salaries, wages and benefits 34,879 34,176 33,230
   Contracted services 16,710 14,721 14,937
   Utilities 8,324 7,813 7,627
   General administration 12,908 6,092 6,117
   Supplies and capital items expensed 6,792 5,886 5,858
   Insurance 1,383 1,231 1,302
                    Total operating expenses 80,996 69,919 69,071
                    Net operating revenues 9,018 28,655 34,476

Nonoperating changes in net position: increase (decrease)
  Grants and federal awards 8,106 17,547 12,055
  Passenger facility charges 11,347 11,107 7,679
  Passenger facility charges transferred to operations (5,967) (7,443) (13,635)
  Customer facility charges transferred from operations 4,365 4,305 4,185
  Customer facility charges returned to operations -                    (51)                -                    
  Demolition of excess facilities funding transferred 
     from operations 7,445            -                    -                    
  Demolition of excess facilities funding returned to operations (1)                  -                    -                    
  Police forfeiture program revenues 490               571               372               
  Police forfeiture program revenues from sale of assets 6                   -                    -                    
  Police forfeiture program revenues transferred to operations (64)                (85)                (91)                
  Investment income 353               217               596               
  Debt service interest funded from operations (3,358)           (5,097)           (6,243)           
  Depreciation and amortization (48,715)         (48,782)         (48,639)         
  Debt service and/or improvements to airport account funds
    transferred to operations as landing fee revenues -                    (1,000)           -                    
  Noncapitalizable project costs (800)              (182)              (2,192)           
  Net loss on disposal of capital assets (426)              (2,103)           (1,377)           
  Third party funding of project costs 112               500               -                    
  Reversion of ownership of leased faculties 142               -                    -                    
  Self funded health coverage
    Contributions from operations 4,532            4,418            4,385            
    Contributions from airport facilities 72                 87                 121               
    Contributions from employees 305               219               216               
    Claims incurred (4,263)           (4,063)           (4,082)           
    Administrative fees (201)              (151)              (191)              
    Premiums for stop loss and aggregate coverages (408)              (372)              (327)              
Other 2                   -                    -                    
                     Total nonoperating changes in net position (26,926) (30,358) (47,168)

                     Total changes in net position (17,908) (1,703) (12,692)

Net position at the beginning of the year 920,733 922,436 935,128
Net position at the end of the year $ 902,825 $ 920,733 $ 922,436  
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Operating Revenues and Expenses 
Operating Revenues decreased $8.6 million in 2014 after a $5.0 million decrease in 2013.  As 
described in the Airline Rates and Charges section, under the residual use agreement landing fee 
formula, the overall decrease in operating revenues from 2014 to 2015 is the result of a net 
decrease in requirements.  This net decrease in requirements was the result of an $11.1 million 
increase in operating expenses offset by a $19.7 million decrease in debt service related 
requirements.    

Field revenues, which primarily consist of landing fees, decreased by $9.1 million in 2014. 
Landing fees represent the balancing figure under the Airport’s residual landing fee formula. 
Therefore, as discussed above, this change in landing fee revenues reflects the net variance in all 
other components of operating revenues, operating expenses and debt service.   

Concession revenues increased $1.9 million primarily because of increased parking revenues which 
resulted from origin passenger growth.   

PFCs transferred from airport facilities decreased by $1.5 million in 2014.  PFCs transferred to 
operations from airport facilities represent PFCs transferred to meet the debt service requirements 
on Airport revenue bonds authorized to be paid from PFCs, as well as PFCs transferred to fund 
PFC eligible operating expenses.  The 2014 decrease in PFCs transferred from airport facilities 
relates to a reduction in PFC funded debt service due to the March 1, 2013 final maturity of the 
PFC funded Series 2007A bonds, as well as the October 2014 early redemption of the Series 2003B 
March 1, 2015 and 2016 maturities.   

The primary components of the $11.1 million increase in 2014 operating expenses were a $2.0 
million increase in contracted services, a $6.8 million increase in general administration expense 
and a $.9 million increase in supplies and capital items expensed. The growth in contracted services 
expense is related to one-time moving sidewalk and escalator repairs, conceptual design of a new 
consolidated rental car facility, design work related to the upcoming demolition of older terminal 
facilities, and increased parking shuttle bus fees due to the operator’s purchase of a new shuttle bus 
fleet.  

As approved by the signatory airlines and described in Note 1 to the financial statements, included 
as general administration expense are the transfer of CFCs and funds being accumulated for 
demolition of excess facilities to the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group.  CFCs 
returned to the Available for Current Operations Account Group to reimburse qualifying operating 
expenditures are recorded as reductions of general administration expense.  The increase in general 
administration expense in 2014 is due to the transfer of funds for demolition of excess facilities for 
the first time in 2014, which is offset in part by an increase in the amount of CFC reimbursed 
operating expenses which served to reduce general administration expense. 

The $.9 million increase in supplies and capital items expensed is primarily due to increased snow 
related supplies costs incurred because of the harsh 2014 winter season.      

The 2014 decrease in debt service related requirements was primarily related to the early 
redemption of the Series 2002A, 2003C and 2007B bonds on March 1, 2014 as well as the 
redemption of the March 1, 2015 and 2016 maturities of the Series 2003B bonds on October 15, 
2014. Also contributing to the decrease was the March 1, 2013 final maturity of the Series 2007A 
Bonds.  
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Nonoperating Changes In Net Position 
During 2014, non-operating grants and federal awards revenues decreased by $9.4 million as 
compared to 2013 due to grants being received during 2013 on a large runway rehabilitation project 
that began in late 2012 and was completed in early 2014.      

PFCs transferred to operations, as discussed above, decreased by $1.5 million in 2014 as compared 
to 2013 due to decreased PFC funded debt service requirements resulting from the final maturity on 
the Series 2007A Bonds, as well as the early redemption of the March 1, 2015 and 2016 maturities 
of the Series 2003B bonds. 

The $7.4 million in demolition of excess facilities funding transferred from operations represents 
the transfer of funds being accumulated for the demolition of excess facilities which, as previously 
discussed, occurred for the first time in 2014.   

The $1.7 million decrease in interest funded on revenue bonds during 2014 is the result of 
decreased interest requirements from declining debt balances, with the declining balances being the 
result of both scheduled principal payments and the early redemption of the Series 2002A, 2003C 
and 2007B bonds on March 1, 2014, as well as the early redemption of the March 1, 2015 and 2016 
maturities of the Series 2003B bonds on October 15, 2014.   

Debt service and/or improvement to airport account funds transferred to operations decreased $1.0 
million in 2014 as compared to 2013 due to there being no funds transferred from the Restricted for 
Airport Facilities Account Group to be applied as operating revenues in 2014. 

In 2014, the amount recorded for losses on disposal of capital assets decreased by $1.7 million 
principally due to a decrease in the amounts written off related to the replacement of pavement and 
other capital items. 

Statement of Cash Flows 
A comparative summary of the Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2014, 
2013 and 2012 is as follows (in thousands of dollars): 

2014 2013 2012

Cash received from operations $ 92,156 $ 99,139 $ 99,627
Cash paid for operations (87,191) (76,348) (76,528)
Net cash provided by operating activities 4,965 22,791 23,099

Net cash provided by non-capital
  financing activities 5,830 6,640 6,871
Net cash used in capital and related
  financing activities (43,638) (35,065) (83,340)
Net cash provided by investing activities 6,816 20,985 47,187
Net cash used in non-capital, capital,
   financing and investing activities (30,992) (7,440) (29,282)

Net (decrease) increase in cash (26,027) 15,351 (6,183)

Cash at the beginning of the year 87,691 72,340 78,523
Cash at the end of the year $ 61,664 $ 87,691 $ 72,340  
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The Airport’s overall cash position decreased $26.0 million in 2014 after a $15.4 million increase 
in 2013.   

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2014 was $17.8 million less than the cash provided by 
operating activities in 2013, with the decrease being due to a $19.6 million decrease in net 
operating revenues. Under the use agreement landing fee formula, this reduction in net operating 
revenues is the result of reduced debt service requirements.  Partially offsetting the decrease in net 
cash provided by operations is an increase in cash provided for operations related to differences in 
the timing of cash receipts and payments as reflected in the 2014 and 2013 changes in asset and 
liability balances in the Available for Current Operations Account Group. 

In 2014, $31.0 million of cash was used in non-capital, capital, financing and investing activities, 
representing a $23.6 million fluctuation from the $7.4 million of cash used in these activities in 
2013.  The $23.6 million increase in usage included $0.8 million less cash being provided by non-
capital financing activities, $8.6 million more cash being used in capital and related financing 
activities and $14.2 million less cash being provided by investing activities.  

The primary reason for the $8.6 million increase in cash used in capital and related financing 
activities was the $24.1 million in cash used to redeem bonds in 2014, which was then offset in part 
by $4.6 and $1.5 million reductions in, respectively, the required payments to bondholders and 
PFCs transferred to operations for PFC funded debt service.  Also offsetting the increase in cash 
used related to the redemption of debt was a $6.8 million increase in cash provided for capital and 
related financing activities related to the 2014 accumulation of funds for the demolition of excess 
facilities, a $16.1 million decrease in capital expenditures on projects offset in part by a $13.6 
million decrease in PFCs and grants and federal awards available to be used on these capital 
expenditures, and a $1.0 increase in cash provided due to there being no funds  transferred to 
operations from the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group to be applied as operating 
revenues in 2014.   

The $14.2 million decrease in cash provided by investing activities in 2014 as compared to 2013 
was primarily related to a $25.7 million decrease in cash provided by investing activity in the 
Restricted for Debt Service Account Group.   This decrease was related to selling of investments in 
the Bond Reserve Account of the Restricted for Debt Service Account Group in late 2013 in 
preparation for the March 1, 2014 redemption of the remaining outstanding balances of the Series 
2002A, 2003C and 2007B bonds.  Offsetting this decrease in cash provided by investing activities 
in the Restricted for Debt Service Account Group was a $12.1 million increase in cash provided by 
investing activities in the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group.  The increase in the cash 
provided for investing activities in the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group was related 
to the shifting of funds from investments to cash during the course of the year.  

5. Capital Assets and Debt Administration  
 
Capital Assets 
As of December 31, 2014, the Airport’s capital assets balance, net of accumulated depreciation, 
was $756.0 million.  As detailed in Note 4 to the financial statements, during 2014 the amount of 
capital assets gross of depreciation increased $8.5 million and accumulated depreciation increased 
$40.5 million.  The increase in gross capital assets during 2014 was primarily related to runway 
and taxiway rehabilitation projects, the replacement of roofs in the terminal facilities, the 
construction/renovation of facilities to which the Board’s administrative offices and various other 
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functions will be re-locating, implementation of an enterprise asset management system, purchase 
of a new crash truck, replacement of a firearms training facility, and various terminal mechanical 
system renovation projects.    

Debt Administration 
To reduce the Airport’s outstanding debt and related interest expense, as discussed above, on 
March 1, 2014, the remaining portions of the Series 2002A, 2003C and 2007B bonds were fully 
redeemed.  For the same purposes, on October 15, 2014, the Series 2003B bonds maturing on 
March 1, 2015 and 2016 were redeemed.  These redemptions, combined with the bonds which 
matured on March 1, 2014, resulted in the Airport’s outstanding debt at December 31, 2014 being 
reduced to $59.6 million, a $40.8 million (or 40.6%) reduction as compared to the balance at 
December 31, 2013.   

Pursuant to approvals previously received from the Federal Aviation Administration, the debt 
service on the $59.6 million of revenue bonds outstanding at December 31, 2014, while secured by 
the revenues of the Airport, is fully payable with on-hand PFC funding and currently approved 
future collections of PFCs.    

At December 31, 2014, the Airport’s underlying long-term bond ratings were “A3” from Moody’s 
Investor Services, “A-” from Fitch Ratings, and  “A-” from Standard and Poor’s (“S&P”), all with 
a “stable” outlook.     

The Board does not currently have plans to issue new debt.   

6. Requests for Information 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Airport’s finances for all those 
interested.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for 
additional information should be addressed in writing to the Chief Financial Officer, P.O. Box 
752000, Cincinnati, OH  45275-2000 or emailed to info@cvgairport.com.   
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Assets
Current assets

Cash 11,435$         976$              13,191$            25,602$            528$            26,130$            
Investments (at fair value) -                 -                 40,596              40,596              144              40,740              
Accrued investment income receivable -                 -                 49                     49                     -               49                     
Interaccount group investment income receivable 43                  -                 -                    43                     -               43                     
Accounts receivable 3,241             -                 -                    3,241                -               3,241                
Interaccount group receivable 1,093             -                 610                   1,703                -               1,703                
Interfund receivable 358                -                 -                    358                   -               358                   
Grants and federal awards receivable 90                  -                 -                    90                     -               90                     
Customer facility charges receivable 342                -                 -                    342                   -               342                   
Prepaid expenses 1,334             -                 -                    1,334                -               1,334                

Total current assets 17,936           976                54,446              73,358              672              74,030              

Non-current assets
Cash 1,194             846                32,414              34,454              -               34,454              
Cash - police forfeiture assets -                 -                 1,080                1,080                -               1,080                
Investments (at fair value) -                 4,365             98,141              102,506            4,613           107,119            
Accrued investment income receivable -                 -                 142                   142                   7                  149                   
Interaccount group investment income receivable -                 -                 7                       7                       -               7                       
Accounts receivable -                 -                 99                     99                     196              295                   
Interaccount group receivable -                 -                 2,591                2,591                -               2,591                
Interfund receivable -                 -                 -                    -                    187              187                   
Grants and federal awards receivable -                 -                 10,346              10,346              -               10,346              
Passenger facility charges receivable -                 -                 1,244                1,244                -               1,244                
Prepaid expenses 232                -                 -                    232                   84                316                   
Capital assets, non-depreciable -                 -                 206,858            206,858            -               206,858            
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation -                 -                 549,143            549,143            -               549,143            

Total non-current assets 1,426             5,211             902,065            908,702            5,087           913,789            

Total assets 19,362$        6,187$          956,511$         982,060$         5,759$         987,819$         

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 4,686$           -$               3,585$              8,271$              314$            8,585$              
Accrued expenses 1,804             -                 -                    1,804                -               1,804                
Interaccount group payable 3,201             -                 1,093                4,294                -               4,294                
Interfund payable 185                -                 2                       187                   358              545                   
Interaccount group investment income payable -                 7                    43                     50                     -               50                     
Contract retainage payable -                 -                 631                   631                   -               631                   
Landing fees in excess of requirements 7,020             -                 -                    7,020                -               7,020                
Assets held in trust -                 -                 40                     40                     -               40                     
Funded revenue bonds payable -                 -                 -                    -                    -               -                    
Accrued interest payable -                 969                -                    969                   -               969                   
Revenue bonds payable -                 -                 -                    -                    -               -                    

Total current liabilities 16,896           976                5,394                23,266              672              23,938              

Non-current liabilities
Accounts payable 31                  -                 -                    31                     -               31                     
Accrued expenses 2,435             -                 -                    2,435                -               2,435                
Revenue bonds payable -                 -                 58,590              58,590              -               58,590              

Total non-current liabilities 2,466             -                 58,590              61,056              -               61,056              

Total liabilities 19,362           976                63,984              84,322              672              84,994              

Net position
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt -                 -                 697,412            697,412            -               697,412            
Restricted -                 5,211             195,115            200,326            5,087           205,413            

Total net position -                 5,211             892,527            897,738            5,087           902,825            

Total liabilities and net position 19,362$        6,187$          956,511$         982,060$         5,759$         987,819$         

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Assets
Current assets

Cash 13,378$         16,427$         32,638$          62,443$          432$           62,875$          
Investments (at fair value) -                 -                 40,921            40,921            -              40,921            
Accrued investment income receivable -                 -                 75                   75                   -              75                   
Interaccount group investment income receivable 52                  -                 -                  52                   -              52                   
Accounts receivable 3,606             -                 -                  3,606              -              3,606              
Interaccount group receivable 1,270             -                 4,231              5,501              -              5,501              
Interfund receivable 248                -                 -                  248                 -              248                 
Grants and federal awards receivable 157                -                 -                  157                 -              157                 
Customer facility charges receivable 320                -                 -                  320                 -              320                 
Prepaid expenses 997                -                 -                  997                 -              997                 

Total current assets 20,028           16,427           77,865            114,320          432             114,752          

Non-current assets
Cash 1,500             21,677           -                  23,177            523             23,700            
Cash - police forfeiture assets -                 -                 1,116              1,116              -              1,116              
Investments (at fair value) -                 3,886             105,073          108,959          4,259          113,218          
Accrued investment income receivable -                 -                 301                 301                 10               311                 
Interaccount group investment income receivable -                 -                 4                     4                     -              4                     
Accounts receivable -                 -                 200                 200                 130             330                 
Interaccount group receivable -                 -                 2,169              2,169              -              2,169              
Interfund receivable -                 -                 -                  -                  104             104                 
Grants and federal awards receivable -                 -                 5,272              5,272              -              5,272              
Passenger facility charges receivable -                 -                 1,172              1,172              -              1,172              
Prepaid expenses 233                -                 -                  233                 1                 234                 
Capital assets, non-depreciable -                 -                 206,805          206,805          -              206,805          
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation -                 -                 581,114          581,114          -              581,114          

Total non-current assets 1,733             25,563           903,226          930,522          5,027          935,549          

Total assets 21,761$        41,990$        981,091$       1,044,842$    5,459$        1,050,301$    

Liabilities
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable 5,821$           -$               3,419$            9,240$            184$           9,424$            
Accrued expenses 1,701             -                 -                  1,701              -              1,701              
Interaccount group payable 6,400             -                 1,270              7,670              -              7,670              
Interfund payable 1                    -                 103                 104                 248             352                 
Interaccount group investment income payable -                 7                    49                   56                   -              56                   
Contract retainage payable -                 -                 416                 416                 -              416                 
Landing fees in excess of requirements 5,297             -                 -                  5,297              -              5,297              
Assets held in trust -                 -                 40                   40                   -              40                   
Funded revenue bonds payable -                 14,779           -                  14,779            -              14,779            
Accrued interest payable -                 1,641             -                  1,641              -              1,641              
Revenue bonds payable -                 -                 24,557            24,557            -              24,557            

Total current liabilities 19,220           16,427           29,854            65,501            432             65,933            

Non-current liabilities
Accounts payable 182                -                 -                  182                 -              182                 
Accrued expenses 2,359             -                 -                  2,359              -              2,359              
Revenue bonds payable -                 -                 61,094            61,094            -              61,094            

Total non-current liabilities 2,541             -                 61,094            63,635            -              63,635            

Total liabilities 21,761           16,427           90,948            129,136          432             129,568          

Net position
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt -                 -                 702,268          702,268          -              702,268          
Restricted -                 25,563           187,875          213,438          5,027          218,465          

Total net position -                 25,563           890,143          915,706          5,027          920,733          

Total liabilities and net position 21,761$        41,990$        981,091$       1,044,842$    5,459$        1,050,301$    

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Operating revenues  
Field

Landing fees 14,762$       -$               -$             14,762$      -$           14,762$      
Ramp rentals 5,159           -                 -               5,159          -             5,159          
Other 149              -                 -               149             -             149             

Concessions 36,588         -                 -               36,588        -             36,588        
Fixed rentals 19,292         -                 -               19,292        -             19,292        
Rebilled services 2,730           -                 -               2,730          -             2,730          
Passenger facility charges transferred
   from airport facilities 5,967           -                 -               5,967          -             5,967          
Customer facility charges 4,365           -                 -               4,365          -             4,365          
Grants and federal awards 433              -                 -               433             -             433             
Police forfeiture revenues transferred
   from airport facilities 64                -                 -               64               -             64               
Investment income 162              -                 -               162             -             162             
Miscellaneous 343              -                 -               343             -             343             

Total operating revenues 90,014         -                 -               90,014        -             90,014        
Operating expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 34,879         -                 -               34,879        -             34,879        
Contracted services 16,710         -                 -               16,710        -             16,710        
Utilities 8,324           -                 -               8,324          -             8,324          
General administration 12,908         -                 -               12,908        -             12,908        
Supplies and capital items expensed 6,792           -                 -               6,792          -             6,792          
Insurance 1,383           -                 -               1,383          -             1,383          

Total operating expenses 80,996         -                 -               80,996        -             80,996        

Net operating revenues 9,018           -                 -               9,018          -             9,018          

Nonoperating changes in net position: increase (decrease)
Disposition of net operating revenues

Debt service
Revenue bond principal (3,856)          3,856             -               -              -             -              
Revenue bond interest, excluding capitalized interest (3,358)          3,358             -               -              -             -              

Total debt service (7,214)          7,214             -               -              -             -              
Excess revenues over debt service

Depreciation account -               -                 -               -              -             -              
Restricted for debt service and/or improvements to
   airport accounts (610)             -                 610              -              -             -              
Passenger facility charge project account (1,194)          -                 1,194           -              -             -              

Total excess revenues over debt service (1,804)          -                 1,804           -              -             -              

Total disposition of net operating revenues (9,018)$        7,214$           1,804$         -$            -$           -$            

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Other nonoperating changes in net position   
Grants and federal awards -$             -$          8,106$        8,106$        -$           8,106$            
Passenger facility charges -               -            11,347        11,347        -             11,347            
Passenger facility charges transferred to operations -               -            (5,967)         (5,967)         -             (5,967)            
Customer facility charges transferred from operations

as general administration expense -               -            4,365          4,365          -             4,365              
Demolition of excess facilities funding transferred from 

operations as general administration expense -               -            7,445          7,445          -             7,445              
Demolition of excess facilities funding returned to operations

as a reduction of general administration expense -               -            (1)                (1)                -             (1)                   
Police forfeiture program revenues -               -            490             490             -             490                 
Police forfeiture program revenues from sale of assets -               -            6                 6                 -             6                     
Police forfeiture program revenues 

transferred to operations -               -            (64)              (64)              -             (64)                 
Investment income -               5               325             330             23              353                 
Debt service principal funded from operations -               (3,856)       3,856          -              -             -                  
Debt service interest funded from operations -               (3,358)       -              (3,358)         -             (3,358)            
Transfer of passenger facility charges for redemption of

a portion of 2003B revenue bonds -               2,848        (2,848)         -              -             -                  
Redemption of portion of 2003B revenue bonds -               (2,848)       2,848          -              -             -                  
Release of bond reserve for redemption of the outstanding

2002A, 2003C and 2007B revenue bonds -               (19,880)     19,880        -              -             -                  
Release of excess Interest and Redemption account funds for

redemption of 2002A, 2003C and 2007B revenue bonds -               (477)          477             -              -             -                  
Depreciation and amortization -               -            (48,715)       (48,715)       -             (48,715)          
Noncapitalizable project costs -               -            (800)            (800)            -             (800)               
Net loss on disposal of capital assets -               -            (426)            (426)            -             (426)               
Third party funding of project costs -               -            112             112             -             112                 
Reversion of ownership of leased facilities -               -            142             142             -             142                 
Self funded health coverage

Contributions from operations -               -            -              -              4,532         4,532              
Contributions from airport facilities -               -            -              -              72              72                   
Contributions from employees -               -            -              -              305            305                 
Claims incurred -               -            -              -              (4,263)        (4,263)            
Administrative fees -               -            -              -              (201)           (201)               
Premiums for stop loss and aggregate coverages -               -            -              -              (408)           (408)               

Other -               -            2                 2                 -             2                     
Total other nonoperating changes in net position -               (27,566)     580             (26,986)       60              (26,926)          

Total changes in net position -               (20,352)     2,384          (17,968)       60              (17,908)          

Net position at the beginning of year -               25,563      890,143      915,706      5,027         920,733          

Net position at the end of year -$            5,211$     892,527$   897,738$   5,087$       902,825$       

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Operating revenues  
Field

Landing fees 24,035$       -$               -$             24,035$      -$           24,035$      
Ramp rentals 4,997           -                 -               4,997          -             4,997          
Other 154              -                 -               154             -             154             

Concessions 34,666         -                 -               34,666        -             34,666        
Fixed rentals 19,074         -                 -               19,074        -             19,074        
Rebilled services 2,808           -                 -               2,808          -             2,808          
Passenger facility charges transferred
   from airport facilities 7,443           -                 -               7,443          -             7,443          
Customer facility charges 4,305           -                 -               4,305          -             4,305          
Grants and federal awards 467              -                 -               467             -             467             
Police forfeiture revenues transferred
   from airport facilities 85                -                 -               85               -             85               
Investment income 255              -                 -               255             -             255             
Miscellaneous 285              -                 -               285             -             285             

Total operating revenues 98,574         -                 -               98,574        -             98,574        
Operating expenses

Salaries, wages and benefits 34,176         -                 -               34,176        -             34,176        
Contracted services 14,721         -                 -               14,721        -             14,721        
Utilities 7,813           -                 -               7,813          -             7,813          
General administration 6,092           -                 -               6,092          -             6,092          
Supplies and capital items expensed 5,886           -                 -               5,886          -             5,886          
Insurance 1,231           -                 -               1,231          -             1,231          

Total operating expenses 69,919         -                 -               69,919        -             69,919        

Net operating revenues 28,655         -                 -               28,655        -             28,655        

Nonoperating changes in net position: increase (decrease)
Disposition of net operating revenues

Debt service
Revenue bond principal (17,827)        17,827           -               -              -             -              
Revenue bond interest, excluding capitalized interest (5,097)          5,097             -               -              -             -              

Total debt service (22,924)        22,924           -               -              -             -              
Excess revenues over debt service

Depreciation account -               -                 -               -              -             -              
Restricted for debt service and/or improvements to
   airport accounts (4,232)          -                 4,232           -              -             -              
Passenger facility charge project account (1,499)          -                 1,499           -              -             -              

Total excess revenues over debt service (5,731)          -                 5,731           -              -             -              

Total disposition of net operating revenues (28,655)$      22,924$         5,731$         -$            -$           -$            

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Other nonoperating changes in net position   
Grants and federal awards -$             -$          17,547$      17,547$        -$           17,547$       
Passenger facility charges -               -            11,107        11,107          -             11,107         
Passenger facility charges transferred to operations -               -            (7,443)         (7,443)           -             (7,443)          
Customer facility charges transferred from operations

as general administration expense -               -            4,305          4,305            -             4,305           
Customer facility charges returned to operations

as a reduction of general administration expense -               -            (51)              (51)                -             (51)               
Police forfeiture program revenues -               -            571             571               -             571              
Police forfeiture program revenues 

transferred to operations -               -            (85)              (85)                -             (85)               
Investment income -               (4)              200             196               21              217              
Release of excess bond reserve to reimburse previous

payments of debt service from passenger facility charges -               (838)          838             -                -             -               
Debt service principal funded from operations -               (17,827)     17,827        -                -             -               
Debt service interest funded from operations -               (5,097)       -              (5,097)           -             (5,097)          
Release of excess bond reserve for payment

of debt service -               (436)          436             -                -             -               
Depreciation and amortization -               -            (48,782)       (48,782)         -             (48,782)        
Debt service and/or improvements to airport account

funds transferred to operations as landing fee revenues -               -            (1,000)         (1,000)           -             (1,000)          
Noncapitalizable project costs -               -            (182)            (182)              -             (182)             
Net loss on disposal of capital assets -               -            (2,103)         (2,103)           -             (2,103)          
Third party funding of project costs -               -            500             500               -             500              
Self funded health coverage

Contributions from operations -               -            -              -                4,418         4,418           
Contributions from airport facilities -               -            -              -                87              87                
Contributions from employees -               -            -              -                219            219              
Claims incurred -               -            -              -                (4,063)        (4,063)          
Administrative fees -               -            -              -                (151)           (151)             
Premiums for stop loss and aggregate coverages -               -            -              -                (372)           (372)             

Total other nonoperating changes in net position -               (24,202)     (6,315)         (30,517)         159            (30,358)        

Total changes in net position -               (1,278)       (584)            (1,862)           159            (1,703)          

Net position at the beginning of year -               26,841      890,727      917,568        4,868         922,436       

Net position at the end of year -$            25,563$   890,143$   915,706$     5,027$       920,733$    

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash received from customers 85,312$       -$              -$              85,312$        -$              85,312$       
Cash received from restricted account groups 6,844           -                -                6,844            -                6,844           
Cash paid to suppliers (33,081)        -                -                (33,081)         -                (33,081)        
Cash paid for the direct benefit of employees (32,318)        -                -                (32,318)         -                (32,318)        
Cash paid to restricted account groups (16,862)        -                -                (16,862)         -                (16,862)        
Cash paid to internal service fund (4,930)          -                -                (4,930)           -                (4,930)          

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,965           -                -                4,965            -                4,965           

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities
Transfers of cash to or from current operations 
 account group

Prior year revenues in excess of operating expenses
  and debt service -               -                5,731            5,731            -                5,731           
Passenger facility charges -               -                (376)              (376)              -                (376)             
Contributions for employee health coverage -               -                -                -                4,625             4,625           
Police forfeiture program transfers -               -                (60)                (60)                -                (60)               
Health coverage contributions from employees -               -                -                -                305                305              

Police forfeiture program receipts -               -                490               490               -                490              
Claims paid -               -                -                -                (4,276)           (4,276)          
Administrative fees -               -                -                -                (201)              (201)             
Premiums for stop loss and aggregate coverages -               -                -                -                (408)              (408)             

Net cash provided by non-capital 
   financing activities -               -                5,785            5,785            45                  5,830           

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Transfers of cash to or from current operations 
 account group

Debt service (7,214)          7,214             -                -                -                -               
Customer facility charges -               -                4,305            4,305            -                4,305           
Passenger facility charges -               -                (5,968)           (5,968)           -                (5,968)          
Funds for demolition of excess facilities -               -                6,825            6,825            -                6,825           
Acquisition and construction of airport facilities - 
  reimbursement of capitalized labor -               -                (277)              (277)              -                (277)             

Transfer of passenger facility charges for redemption
of a portion of 2003B revenue bonds -               2,848             (2,848)           -                -                -               

Redemption of a portion of 2003B revenue bonds with
passenger facility charges -               (2,848)           -                (2,848)           -                (2,848)          

Redemption of a portion of 2003B revenue bonds with
Interest and Redemption account funds -               (1,377)           -                (1,377)           -                (1,377)          

Redemption of outstanding 2003A, 2003C and 2007B
revenue bonds with bond reserve funds -               (19,880)         -                (19,880)         -                (19,880)        

Redemption of outstanding 2003A, 2003C and 2007B bonds
with excess Interest and Redemption account funds -               (477)              -                (477)              -                (477)             

Non-capitalizable project costs -               -                (789)              (789)              -                (789)             
Grants and federal awards receipts -               -                3,032            3,032            -                3,032           
Passenger facility charge receipts -               -                11,275          11,275          -                11,275         
Acquisition and construction of airport facilities -               -                (16,414)         (16,414)         -                (16,414)        
Third party funding of project costs -               -                212               212               -                212              
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets -               -                46                 46                 -                46                
Debt service principal paid on revenue bonds -               (17,735)         -                (17,735)         -                (17,735)        
Debt service interest paid on revenue bonds -               (3,555)           -                (3,555)           -                (3,555)          
Other -               -                (13)                (13)                -                (13)               

Net cash used in capital and related
 financing activities (7,214)          (35,810)         (614)              (43,638)         -                (43,638)        

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales and maturities of 
  investments -               1,540             404,919        406,459        4,527             410,986       
Purchase of investments -               (2,080)           (398,098)       (400,178)       (5,040)           (405,218)      
Investment income -               84                  1,085            1,169            41                  1,210           
Transfers of investment income

From current operations account group -               -                1                   1                   -                1                  
To current operations account group -               (3)                  (160)              (163)              -                (163)             
To restricted for airport facilities account group -               (13)                13                 -                -                -               

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities -               (472)              7,760            7,288            (472)              6,816           

Net (decrease) increase in cash (2,249)          (36,282)         12,931          (25,600)         (427)              (26,027)        

Cash at the beginning of the year 14,878         38,104           33,754          86,736          955                87,691         

Cash at the end of the year 12,629$      1,822$          46,685$       61,136$       528$              61,664$      

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Reconciliation of net operating revenues to net cash
 provided by operating activities

Net operating revenues 9,018$        -$         -$         9,018$     -$        9,018$     

Adjustments to reconcile net operating revenues to
 net cash provided by operating activities

Current year excess revenues over debt service
Restricted for debt service and/or improvements
   to airport accounts (610) -          -          (610)         -          (610)       
Passenger facility charge project account (1,194)       -          -          (1,194)     -          (1,194)    

Change in assets and liabilities -         
Decrease in interaccount group
   investment income receivable 9                -          -          9              -          9             
Decrease in accounts receivable 365            -          -          365          -          365         
Decrease in interaccount group receivable 177            -          -          177          -          177         
Increase in interfund receivable (110)          -          -          (110)         -          (110)       
Decrease in grants and federal awards receivable 67              -          -          67            -          67           
Increase in customer facility charges receivable (22)            -          -          (22)           -          (22)         
Increase in prepaid expense (336)          -          -          (336)         -          (336)       
Decrease in accounts payable (1,286)       -          -          (1,286)     -          (1,286)    
Increase in accrued expense 179            -          -          179          -          179         
Decrease in interaccount group payables (3,199)       -          -          (3,199)     -          (3,199)    
Increase in interfund payables 184            -          -          184          -          184         
Increase in landing fees in excess of requirements 1,723         -          -          1,723      -          1,723      

Total adjustments (4,053)       -          -          (4,053)     -          (4,053)    

Net cash provided by operating activities 4,965$        -$         -$         4,965$     -$        4,965$     

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Cash flows from operating activities   
Cash received from customers 88,495$       -$              -$              88,495$        -$              88,495$         
Cash received from restricted account groups 10,644         -                -                10,644          -                10,644           
Cash paid to suppliers (29,713)        -                -                (29,713)         -                (29,713)          
Cash paid for the direct benefit of employees (30,751)        -                -                (30,751)         -                (30,751)          
Cash paid to restricted account groups (11,200)        -                -                (11,200)         -                (11,200)          
Cash paid to internal service fund (4,684)          -                -                (4,684)           -                (4,684)            

Net cash provided by operating activities 22,791         -                -                22,791          -                22,791           

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities

Transfers of cash to or from current operations 
 account group

Prior year revenues in excess of operating expenses
  and debt service -               -                6,895            6,895            -                6,895             
Passenger facility charges -               -                (674)              (674)              -                (674)               
Contributions for employee health coverage -               -                -                -                4,466             4,466             
Police forfeiture program transfers -               -                (83)                (83)                -                (83)                 
Health coverage contributions from employees -               -                -                -                218                218                

Police forfeiture program receipts -               -                571               571               -                571                
Claims paid -               -                -                -                (4,231)           (4,231)            
Administrative fees -               -                -                -                (150)              (150)               
Premiums for stop loss and aggregate coverages -               -                -                -                (372)              (372)               

Net cash provided by (used in) non-capital 
   financing activities -               -                6,709            6,709            (69)                6,640             

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities
Transfers of cash to or from current operations 
 account group

Debt service (22,924)        22,924           -                -                -                -                 
Customer facility charges -               -                4,304            4,304            -                4,304             

Passenger facility charges -               -                (7,497)           (7,497)           -                (7,497)            
Acquisition and construction of airport facilities - 
  reimbursement of capitalized labor -               -                (1,099)           (1,099)           -                (1,099)            
Debt service and/or improvements to airport account

funds transferred to operations as landing fee revenues -               -                (1,000)           (1,000)           -                (1,000)            
Grants and federal awards receipts -               -                17,550          17,550          -                17,550           
Passenger facility charge receipts -               -                10,406          10,406          -                10,406           
Acquisition and construction of airport facilities -               -                (31,880)         (31,880)         180                (31,700)          
Third party funding of project costs -             -              300             300             -                300              
Release of excess bond reserve to reimburse previous

payments of debt service from passenger facility charges -               (5,023)           5,023            -                -                -                 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets -               -                25                 25                 -                25                  
Debt service principal paid on revenue bonds -             (20,905)       -              (20,905)       -                (20,905)        
Debt service interest paid on revenue bonds -               (5,449)           -                (5,449)           -                (5,449)            

Net cash (used in) provide by capital and
 related financing activities (22,924)        (8,453)           (3,868)           (35,245)         180                (35,065)          

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sales and maturities of 
  investments -             94,781         364,791      459,572      9,026             468,598       
Purchase of investments -               (69,705)         (370,386)       (440,091)       (9,037)           (449,128)        
Investment income -               292                1,481            1,773            32                  1,805             
Transfers of investment income

From current operations account group -               -                1                   1                   -                1                    
To current operations account group -               (78)                (213)              (291)              -                (291)               
To restricted for airport facilities account group -               (22)                22                 -                -                -                 

Net cash provided by investing activities -               25,268           (4,304)           20,964          21                  20,985           

Net (decrease) increase in cash (133)           16,815         (1,463)         15,219        132                15,351         

Cash at the beginning of the year 15,011         21,289           35,217          71,517          823                72,340           

Cash at the end of the year 14,878$      38,104$        33,754$       86,736$       955$              87,691$        

Enterprise Fund
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Internal 
Service 
Fund

Available Restricted Restricted Self-funded
for Current for Debt for Airport health 
Operations Service Facilities Total coverage Total

Reconciliation of net operating revenues to net cash
 provided by operating activities

Net operating revenues 28,655$       -$          -$          28,655$    -$        28,655$     
Adjustments to reconcile net operating revenues to
 net cash provided by operating activities

Current year excess revenues over debt service
Restricted for debt service and/or improvements
   to airport accounts (4,232) -            -            (4,232)       -          (4,232)        
Passenger facility charge project account (1,499)         -            -            (1,499)       -          (1,499)        

Change in assets and liabilities -             
Decrease in interaccount group
   investment income receivable 41                -            -            41             -          41              
Decrease in interaccount group receivable 1,138           -            -            1,138        -          1,138         
Increase in interfund receivable (35)              -            -            (35)            -          (35)             
Decrease in accounts receivable 1,406           -            -            1,406        -          1,406         
Decrease in grants and federal awards receivable 92                -            -            92             -          92              
Increase in customer facility charges receivable (31)              -            -            (31)            -          (31)             
Increase in prepaid expenses (54)              -            -            (54)            -          (54)             
Increase in accounts payable 260              -            -            260           -          260            
Decrease in accrued expenses (460)            -            -            (460)          -          (460)           
Decrease in interaccount group payable (1,531)         -            -            (1,531)       -          (1,531)        
Decrease in interfund payable (16)              -            -            (16)            -          (16)             
Decrease in landing fees in excess
    of requirements (943)            -            -            (943)          -          (943)           

Total adjustments (5,864)         -            -            (5,864)       -          (5,864)        

Net cash provided by operating activities 22,791$      -$         -$         22,791$   -$        22,791$    

Enterprise Fund
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1. Basis of Accounting 

The Kenton County Airport Board (the “Board”) was created by the Fiscal Court of Kenton 
County, Kentucky on June 3, 1943.  The Board is a public body politic and corporate, and has 
jurisdiction, control, possession and supervision of the Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky International 
Airport (the “Airport”). 

The basis of accounting followed by the Airport is designed to comply with various revenue bond 
resolutions and “use agreements” (more fully described below). The Board believes that, in the 
Airport’s circumstances, this basis of accounting, which is summarized below, is more appropriate 
than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America for state and local 
governmental units because it provides more meaningful and useful information to the 
bondholders, airlines and other users of the financial statements.  The major variances of this basis 
from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America relate to 
fund/account group structure and to the accounting for depreciation, debt service payments, debt 
defeasance including expensing gains or losses, bond issuance costs, capitalized interest, 
investment income, interest expense incurred on borrowings, supplies inventory, and the 
presentation of interaccount group and interfund receivables and payables. These items, except for 
the interaccount group and interfund receivables and payables, are charged/credited to the net 
position of the applicable account group rather than being reflected in the Balance Sheet or as 
revenues and expenses on the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.  In 
addition, due to the requirement that they be available to finance operating expenses and/or to 
satisfy debt service requirements, certain sources of funds, which are typically considered to be 
non-operating sources, are classified as operating revenues. 

Authoritative Pronouncements 
The Airport complies with all applicable Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) 
statements to the extent they do not conflict with the provisions of the use agreements or the 
various bond resolutions.   
 
The Airport is a business-type activity, as defined by GASB Statement No. 34, Basic Financial 
Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local Governments.  
Business-type activities are those that are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external 
parties for goods or services and are accounted for in Enterprise Funds on the accrual basis of 
accounting. As such, the account groups utilized to account for the Airport’s operating, capital and 
debt service activities collectively represent the Airport’s Enterprise Fund. 

Internal Service Funds, in accordance with GASB Statement No. 34, may be used to report 
activities which provide goods or services on a cost reimbursement basis to other funds. Effective 
January 1, 2009, the Airport, by resolution of the Board, established an Internal Service Fund 
(“ISF”) to account for all activities of the self-funded health coverages maintained for employees 
(more fully explained in Note 9). 

Due to the Airport’s reporting as an Enterprise Fund, as required by GASB Statement No. 34, the 
Balance Sheets are presented with assets and liabilities classified as current and non-current.  
Assets are classified as current if they will be converted to cash within one year of the Balance 
Sheet date and are not subject to restrictions which prohibit them from being used in the current 
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operations of the Airport.   Restricted assets are also classified as current if they will be converted 
to cash within one year of the Balance Sheet date and are needed to cover current liabilities which 
exist at the Balance Sheet date.   Liabilities are classified as current if they are likely to be paid 
within one year of the Balance Sheet date.    
 
Significant Upcoming Implementations 
GASB Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions-an amendment of 
GASB Statement No. 27, issued June 2012, will be effective for periods beginning after June 15, 
2014. This Statement establishes the accounting and financial reporting standards for measuring 
and recognizing liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources, and 
expense/expenditures related to certain pensions.  It will improve the decision-usefulness of 
information in employer and governmental nonemployer contributing entity financial reports and 
will enhance its value for assessing accountability and interperiod equity by requiring recognition 
of the entire net pension liability and a more comprehensive measure of pension expense. 
 
GASB Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the 
Measurement Date -an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68, issued November 2013, is effective 
for periods beginning after June 15, 2014. This Statement addresses an issue regarding application 
of the transition provisions of Statement No. 68. The Statement amends GASB Statement No. 68 to 
require that, at transition, governments recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for 
pension contributions, if any, made after the measurement date of the beginning net pension 
liability. Other deferred positions will be reported at transition only if it is practical to determine all 
such amounts. The provisions of this Statement are required to be applied simultaneously with the 
provisions of Statement 68 noted above. 
 
GASB Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and Application, issued February 2015, will be 
effective for periods beginning after June 15, 2015. This Statement will enhance the comparability 
of financial statements among governments by requiring the measurement of certain assets and 
liabilities at fair value using a consistent and more detailed definition of fair value and accepted 
valuation techniques.  This Statement also will enhance fair value application guidance and related 
disclosures in order to provide information to financial statements users about the impact of fair 
value measurements on a government’s financial position. 

The Airport has not yet determined the effects that the implementation of these statements will 
have on its financial statements. 

Operating Revenue Requirements 
The provisions of the bond resolutions require, among other things, that rates and fees charged for 
the use of Airport facilities must be sufficient to provide net revenues (revenues less operations and 
maintenance expenses) equal to at least 120% of the current principal and interest requirements of 
the bonds outstanding plus the required payments into the Depreciation Account (a restricted 
account more fully described in Note 3). 

The Board has entered into “use agreements” with certain airlines (“signatory airlines”) serving the 
Airport, which provide the basis for determining landing fee rates and other charges to those 
airlines, for the use of Airport facilities for as long as any of the revenue bonds are outstanding.  
The use agreements provide that in no event shall Airport revenues be less than that required by the 
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various bond resolutions.  Under provisions of the use agreements, the signatory airlines have 
agreed to pay sufficient rates and charges which will, together with other revenues of the Airport 
and other funds lawfully available, produce Airport revenues sufficient to pay all operating, 
maintenance, repair and administrative expenses of the Airport (exclusive of depreciation), plus the 
greater of a) 125% of the amount required to be paid each year into the Bond Interest and 
Redemption Account (“debt service requirements”); b) the aggregate amount required to be paid 
each year into the Bond Interest and Redemption, the Bond Reserve and the Depreciation 
Accounts; or c) the amount required by the various bond resolutions as previously described (these 
restricted accounts are more fully described in Note 3). 

In accordance with the basis of accounting described above, the primary components of operating 
revenues are revenues from landing fees, terminal and ramp rentals, commercial building and 
ground rentals, concession revenues, rebilled utilities, certain grants and facilities charges and 
certain portions of investment income. Sources of funding which result from capital or financing 
activities, as well as the portions of investment income not considered under the bond resolutions 
and use agreements to be operating revenues, are recorded as non-operating sources. 

In 2014 and 2013, operating revenues aggregating $90,014 and $98,574, respectively, were 
sufficient to satisfy all of the above requirements. Included in these revenues are current amounts 
receivable from tenants at December 31, 2014 and 2013 of $3,241 and $3,606, respectively. These 
amounts, which are classified as accounts receivable on the Balance Sheets, are presented net of the 
allowance for doubtful accounts at December 31, 2014 and 2013 of $23 and $41, respectively. 

Restricted Accounts 
The Airport maintains restricted accounts (see Note 3) which are grouped under the following 
financial statement headings: 

Enterprise fund 
    Available for Current Operations Account Group: 
      Passenger Facility Charge Revenue Accounts (“PFC Revenue Accounts”) 
 
    Restricted for Debt Service Account Group: 
      Bond Reserve Account 
      Bond Interest and Redemption Account 

    Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group: 
   Construction and Land Accounts 
   Depreciation Account 
   Passenger Facility Charge Project Account (“PFC Project Account”) 
   Customer Facility Charge Account (“CFC Account”) 
   Police Forfeiture Account 
   Debt Service and/or Improvements to Airport Accounts 
   Demolition of Excess Facilities Account (“DEF Account”) 
 

Internal Service Fund 
Self-funded Health Coverage Account 
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As more fully described in Note 3, some of the resources listed above are restricted by outside 
parties such as the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”) and the signatory airlines. 
Accordingly, approval of these parties, as applicable, is required in order for the restricted 
resources to be available for use. It is the Airport’s policy to apply restricted resources when an 
obligation is incurred for which both restricted and unrestricted net position are available for use. 

Airport Facilities 
Additions to Airport facilities with costs greater than $10 are carried as assets in the Restricted for 
Airport Facilities Account Group.  Those with costs less than $10 are recorded as operating 
expenses.  For assets with costs in excess of $50, depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, ranging from three to forty years, and is recognized as 
a direct reduction of the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group net position.  Assets with 
costs of less than $50 are typically replaced every three to five years and the effect on the financial 
statements of not depreciating these assets is insignificant to the financial position of the Airport.  
Replacements of $50 and under are expensed and the cost of the asset replaced remains as an asset 
included in Airport facilities.  The cost of other assets retired, as well as any related accumulated 
depreciation, is removed from the related account, and the net of these amounts, less any proceeds 
received from disposition, is transferred to the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group net 
position. In 2014 and 2013, the costs of additions and replacements which were less than the 
capitalization thresholds and which therefore were expensed totaled $1,050 and $1,194, 
respectively. These amounts are included in supplies and capital items expensed in the Statement of 
Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position. 

Repairs and maintenance which do not substantially increase the capacity, improve the operational 
efficiency or extend the useful lives of Airport assets are expensed.  Easements, when the fully-
executed documentation has been obtained, are recorded at the amount incurred by the Airport to 
obtain such easements. 

Pursuant to certain agreements between the Board and tenants of the Airport, facilities constructed 
by or on behalf of the tenant on property leased from the Airport are not reflected as assets of the 
Airport until such time as the Board assumes the risks and rights of ownership.  Upon transfer of 
the risks and rights of ownership to the Board, the fair market value of such reverted property is 
recorded as a capital asset in the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group. 

For those revenue bonds which have been issued for the funding of construction projects, the 
interest which accrues during the expected construction period is funded from bond proceeds and is 
capitalized as a cost of the construction project in the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account 
Group.  This serves to reduce the amount of interest which would otherwise be funded from 
operations. 

Passenger Facility Charges 
In 1994, the FAA first granted approval to the Airport to impose a Passenger Facility Charge 
(“PFC”) and to use the PFCs to fund specific approved projects.  PFCs, which are charged at rates 
per qualifying enplaned passenger, are considered earned upon collection by the airline, are 
credited to the net position of the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group and are deposited 
into the PFC Project Account.  Amounts collected by the airlines but not yet remitted to the Airport 
are classified as PFCs receivable.  As of December 31, 2014, the Airport has received approval on 
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a total of fourteen PFC applications.  The approvals authorize the Airport to collect PFCs for 
approved projects up to the amount of allowable project costs, but not to exceed $590,803. 

The FAA’s approvals of three of the Airport’s PFC applications authorized the use of PFCs for the 
debt service requirements and related costs of revenue bonds (“PFC Bonds”) issued to finance the 
projects included in those applications. The revenue bond resolutions which authorized the 
issuance of the PFC Bonds (“PFC Bond Resolutions”) created PFC Revenue Accounts (within the 
Available for Current Operations Account Group), PFC Interest and Redemption Accounts (within 
the general Bond Interest and Redemption Account in the Restricted for Debt Service Account 
Group) and PFC Bond Reserve Accounts (within the general Bond Reserve Account in the 
Restricted for Debt Service Account Group). 

The PFC Bond Resolutions provide that the Board may, from the PFC Project Account, transfer to 
the PFC Revenue Accounts PFCs up to the amount of the debt service requirements on the PFC 
Bonds.  Upon transfer, these amounts constitute revenues as defined by the various bond 
resolutions and use agreements and are available for the payment of the principal and interest 
requirements of the PFC Bonds. During 2014 and 2013, amounts totaling $5,968 and $7,497, 
respectively, were transferred from the PFC Project Account for the payment of the debt service 
requirements of the PFC Bonds.  

In 2014, related to certain expenses previously recorded as PFC eligible operating expenses,  PFCs 
totaling $1 were returned to the PFC Project Account from the Available for Current Operations 
Account Group. In 2013, PFCs totaling $54 were returned to the PFC Project Account from the 
Available for Current Operations Account Group. 

Throughout the remainder of these Notes to Financial Statements, the PFC Project Account and the 
accounts created by the PFC Bond Resolutions, collectively, represent the “PFC Accounts.” 

Customer Facility Charges 
Pursuant to an ordinance of the Board, the collection of Customer Facility Charges (“CFCs”) began 
on April 1, 2006. The CFCs, which are charged at a rate per rental car transaction day, are being 
collected to provide for the planning, construction, operation, and maintenance of facilities to 
accommodate the ground transportation needs at the Airport. The CFCs are considered earned upon 
collection by the rental car companies and are recognized as operating revenues in the Available 
for Current Operations Account Group. As approved by the Signatory Airlines, the amount of 
CFCs collected is also recognized as general administration operating expense and transferred to 
the CFC Account in the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group. The amounts of CFCs 
included in general administration expense in 2014 and 2013 were $4,365 and $4,305, respectively. 

Qualifying capital expenditures are paid from the CFC Account and are carried as assets in the 
Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group. To reimburse expenditures for qualifying 
operations and maintenance activities, CFCs are returned to the Available for Current Operations 
Account Group where they are recorded as reductions to general administration operating expense. 
The amounts of CFCs returned as reductions of general administration expense in 2014 and 2013 
were $0 and $51, respectively. 
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Funds for Demolition of Excess Facilities 
The Airport’s Master Plan calls for a consolidation of all airline operations into Terminal 3, 
Concourse A and Concourse B, thereby allowing the demolition of excess, less cost efficient  
structures at the Airport.  Pursuant to a December 2013 approval of the signatory airlines, in 2014, 
utilizing operating revenues, funds began to be accumulated by the Airport for the eventual 
demolition of Terminals 1 and 2, as well as certain other ancillary structures at the Airport.   The 
amount of operating revenues collected for this purpose is also recognized as general 
administration operating expense and transferred to the Demolition of Excess Facilities Account 
(“DEF Account”) in the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group, with all funds held in the 
DEF Account being restricted for use on demolition of excess facilities.  The amount of demolition 
funds included in general administration expense in 2014 was $7,445. 
  
The costs of actual demolition of excess facilities are considered operating costs.  Upon incurrence 
of actual demolition costs, amounts previously transferred to the DEF Account are returned to the 
Available for Current Operations Account Group as reductions of general administration expense.   
In 2014, the amount of DEF funds returned as reductions of general administration expense and 
non capitalizable project costs was $18.    
 
Debt Service 
Mandatory transfers of cash to the Bond Interest and Redemption Account for the payment of the 
principal and interest on bonds outstanding (excluding the transfers funded by capitalized interest) 
and the funding of the Bond Reserve (excluding amounts funded with bond proceeds) and 
Depreciation Accounts are charged against operating revenues.  Original issue discount and other 
bond defeasance and issuance costs are charged directly against the net position of the Restricted 
for Airport Facilities Account Group as incurred. 

Investments 
Investments are stated at fair value as based on market values quoted at December 31, 2014 and 
December 31, 2013. 
 
The following items, to the extent that they are experienced during the reporting period, are 
included as components of investment income: 1) interest earnings, 2) amortization of premiums 
and accretion of discounts, 3) unrealized gains and losses due to recording investments at fair value 
and 4) realized gains and losses due to sale or impairment of investments. 

As required by the provisions of the use agreements and bond resolutions, the investment income 
on certain accounts is transferred out of the accounts in which the investment is held to other 
specified accounts (as more fully described below). As the Airport’s general practice is to hold 
investments to maturity, unrealized gains and losses due to recording investments at fair value are 
not expected to be realized. Accordingly, this component of investment income is considered 
temporary and, rather than being transferred, is included in investment income in the account group 
in which the investment is held. 

Investment income of the Land, Construction, Depreciation, PFC, Demolition of Excess Facilities, 
CFC and Police Forfeiture Accounts is credited to the net position of the Restricted for Airport 
Facilities Account Group and excluded from operating revenues. 
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The non-temporary components of investment income of the Debt Service and/or Improvements to 
Airport and Bond Interest and Redemption Accounts, except those which constitute PFC accounts, 
as well as the investment income on funds available for current operations, are credited to 
operating revenues. 

The non-temporary components of investment income of the Bond Reserve Accounts, except those 
which constitute PFC Accounts, are credited to the net position of the Restricted for Debt Service 
Account Group until certain funding requirements of the bond resolutions are met.  Thereafter, they 
are transferred to the Available for Current Operations Account Group and credited to operating 
revenues. 

Investment income of the Group Health Coverage Account is credited to the net position of the 
Internal Service Fund and excluded from operating revenues. 

Interaccount group receivables and liabilities are recognized pending actual transfer of cash funds. 

Assets Held in Trust 
Amounts received from and restricted by tenants and other outside parties for the accomplishment 
of certain projects are considered to be earned upon completion of the projects or the satisfaction of 
the parameters set forth in the authoritative documents. Until earned, the amounts received are 
considered to be liabilities, which are reflected on the Balance Sheets as assets held in trust. 

 
Grants and Federal Awards 
Grant and federal award revenues include amounts received from governmental agencies through 
various types of agreements. Certain of the amounts included from federal agencies are subject to 
the reporting requirements of the U.S. Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133. 

Grant and federal award reimbursements are earned and recorded when approved grants and 
awards are available, the amounts are known and the related eligible expenditures are incurred.  
Grant and award amounts earned relating to capital expenditures are credited to the net position of 
the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group. Amounts earned relating to operating expenses 
are recorded as grant and federal award revenues in the Available for Current Operations Account 
Group.  

Distribution of Net Revenues 
In accordance with the various bond resolutions and use agreements, all non-PFC operating 
revenues in excess of total operations and maintenance expenses and in excess of the debt service, 
Bond Reserve and Depreciation Accounts’ requirements which are charged against operating 
revenues (except those debt service and Bond Reserve Accounts’ requirements which have been 
funded with PFCs) are transferred to the Debt Service and/or Improvements to Airport Accounts.  
All PFC operating revenues in excess of debt service and Bond Reserve requirements which have 
been funded with PFCs are transferred to the PFC Project Account. Interaccount group receivables 
and liabilities are recognized pending actual transfer of cash funds. 

Use of Estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with the basis of accounting described in 
these notes requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 
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reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. 

Reclassifications 
Certain balances in the 2013 financial statements have been reclassified to conform with the 2014 
presentation. 

2. Cash and Investments 

The investing of Airport funds is done in compliance with the Airport’s investment policy (the 
“policy”), such policy being in accordance with the Kentucky Revised Statutes (“KRS”) and the 
applicable provisions of the various bond resolutions in effect.  The policy expressly establishes the 
preservation of capital through the minimization of credit risk and the maintaining of sufficient 
liquidity to be the primary and secondary objectives, respectively, of the Airport’s investment 
program. The policy was designed specifically to address those risks inherent in an investment 
program. Those risks, as outlined in GASB Statement No. 40, consist of: 1) credit risk including 
custodial credit risk and concentration of credit risk and 2) interest rate risk. 

GASB Statement No. 40 
GASB Statement No. 40 defines the following types of risk which apply to the Airport’s 
investment portfolio: 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its 
obligations. 

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial 
institution, a government will not be able to recover deposits or will not be able to recover 
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to 
a transaction, a government will not be able to recover the value of investment or collateral 
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s 
investment in a single issuer. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment. 

Provisions of the Policy 
To substantially reduce the likelihood of significant loss related to these items of risk, the policy 
sets forth parameters related to the types of investments which may be purchased, the credit quality 
of issuers, portfolio diversification as it relates to both type of investment and issuer, the maximum 
investment term/maturity, proper safekeeping and custody procedures, and the amounts and types 
of required collateralization.  As outlined below, the parameters regarding collateralization differ 
and are more restrictive as they relate to the Bond Reserve and Bond Interest and Redemption 
Accounts. 



Cincinnati/Northern Kentucky International Airport 
Notes to Financial Statements 
Years Ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 

(in thousands of dollars) 

31 

Types of investments and credit quality of issuers:  In addition to collateralized/insured deposits in 
interest-bearing accounts and certificates of deposit, the policy permits investment in U.S. Treasury 
obligations and other obligations backed by the full faith and credit of the United States 
(collectively, "U.S. Treasury securities"). Investments in securities issued by certain associations 
and corporations established by the government of the United States ("U.S. government sponsored 
enterprises") are also allowed.  Such investments are permitted provided that at the time of 
purchase, the corporation is rated by at least one Nationally Recognized Statistical Rating 
Organization (“NRSRO”) at the greater of “AA” or the highest current NRSRO rating on U.S. 
Treasury obligations. Subject to restrictions on maturities and requirements for minimum ratings by 
the NRSROs of “AA” or “AAA” on long-term instruments and “A-1” on short-term instruments, 
the policy also permits investment in certain repurchase agreements, uncollateralized certificates of 
deposit, banker acceptances, commercial paper, state and municipal obligations, money market 
mutual funds and supranational bonds.   

Portfolio diversification: To eliminate the risk of a significant loss from an over concentration of 
assets in a specific class of security, a specific maturity, and/or a specific issuer, the policy 
establishes maximum percentages of the Airport’s portfolio which may be invested in each type of 
permitted investment and in securities by any individual issuer, counterparty or depository.  Those 
limits are shown in the following table: 

Individual issuer,
counterparty or

Investment Type depository

Investment Types
U.S. Treasury securities 100% 100%
U.S. government sponsored enterprises 100% 35%
Repurchase agreements 50% 25%
Supranational bonds 10% 5%
Commercial Paper 20% 5%
Bankers acceptances 20% 5%
Collateralized/insured certificates of deposit 25% 5%
Collateralized/insured deposit accounts 100% 40%
Uncollateralized certificates of deposit 20% 5%
State and municipal obligations 20% 5%
Money market mutual funds 100% 50%

Maximum Allowable % of Portfolio

 
 
Maximum investment term/maturity: The policy provides that, unless matched to a specific cash 
flow need, the Airport’s funds should not, in general, be invested in securities maturing more than 
three years from the date of purchase.  However, provided that the average aggregate weighted 
term to maturity for the Bond Reserve Accounts does not exceed five years, funds in the Bond 
Reserve Accounts may be invested in securities for periods exceeding three years if the maturity of 
the investments is made to coincide as nearly as practicable with the expected use of the funds. 

Safekeeping and custody procedures: To ensure proper safekeeping and control over investment 
assets, investment securities are required to be secured through third-party custody and safekeeping 
procedures.   To ensure that securities are deposited in an eligible financial institution prior to the 
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release of funds, all security transactions are required to be conducted on a delivery-versus-
payment basis. 

Collateralization: For the purpose of protecting balances deposited in financial institutions, as 
outlined in the table above, the policy establishes a limit for the amount which may be deposited in 
any single institution.  In addition, the policy requires all cash and other deposits maintained in any 
financial institution in excess of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 
(“FDIC”) to be collateralized at a minimum of 102% of the market value of principal plus accrued 
interest. As provided by KRS Section 41.240(4), the instruments permitted to be used as collateral 
for deposits maintained in the accounts other than the Bond Reserve and Bond Interest and 
Redemption Accounts consist of U.S. Treasury securities, securities issued by U.S. government 
sponsored enterprises and direct obligations of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, as well as those of 
certain of its agencies and instrumentalities.  Instruments permitted to be used as collateral for 
deposits maintained in the Bond Reserve and Bond Interest and Redemption Accounts consist only 
of those defined as U.S. Treasury securities.  All securities pledged as collateral are required to be 
held by an independent third-party custodian. 

The policy also requires that the Board's portfolio remain sufficiently liquid to enable the Airport to 
meet all cash flow requirements.  As set forth in the policy, this is accomplished by the proper 
structuring of investment maturities and by investing in securities permitted by the policy, such 
securities having active secondary or resale markets. 

Cash and Investments Held 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Airport’s cash and investments were comprised of the 
following:  

Cost Fair Value Cost Fair Value

61,664$     61,664$     87,691$     87,691$     

Investments
Investment in money market mutual funds

First American Government
Obligation Fund 8,886$       8,886$       -$               -$               

Securities
U.S. Treasury 31,985$     31,698$     25,910$     25,799$     
U.S. government sponsored 

enterprises 72,339       72,191       83,744       83,277       
Commercial paper 35,077       35,084       34,047       34,063       
Uncollateralized certificates of deposit -             -             11,000       11,000       

Total investments 148,287$    147,859$    154,701$    154,139$    

2014 2013

Cash

In the above table, the cost of securities includes the face value of the investments combined with 
any premiums and discounts at purchase. 
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Cash deposits are maintained at the Airport’s depository bank in interest-bearing demand deposit 
accounts.  Collateral for amounts deposited in excess of amounts insured by the FDIC is pledged 
by the depository bank and held in safe-keeping by the Federal Reserve Bank in the Airport’s 
name.   At December 31, 2014 and 2013, such collateral was comprised of U.S. Treasury securities 
and securities issued by certain U.S. government sponsored enterprises.  At December 31, 2014 
and 2013, the securities pledged as collateral had market values of $71,054 and $105,006, 
respectively. 

The First American Government Obligation Fund is a money market fund which invests primarily 
in direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. government sponsored enterprises and in other 
securities collateralized by such obligations. The Airport’s investments in this fund are maintained 
by the Trust Department of the Airport’s custodial bank in the name of the Kenton County Airport 
Board. 
 
The U.S. Treasury securities in which the Airport invests are direct obligations of the U.S. Treasury 
and are unconditionally backed by the full faith and credit of the United States government.  The 
Airport’s investment in U.S. government sponsored enterprise securities at December 31, 2014 
and/or December 31, 2013, as permitted by the policy, consisted of instruments issued by the 
Federal Home Loan Bank, the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation and the Federal National 
Mortgage Association. All securities in which the Airport was invested were held in the Airport’s 
name by the Trust Department of the Airport’s custodial bank. 

The commercial paper instruments in which the Airport was invested at December 31, 2014 and 
December 31, 2013 were unsecured short-term financing obligations issued by corporations or 
banks.  In accordance with the requirements of the policy, these instruments had maturities of no 
greater than 270 days, the amount invested in any single issuing corporation did not exceed five 
percent (5%) of the total amount of funds invested by the Board (based on book value on the date 
of acquisition), and the instruments were issued by corporations with individual net worths of at 
least $50,000 and short-term debt ratings of no less than “A-1” (or its equivalent) by at least two 
NRSROs.  The commercial paper held at December 31, 2014 and/or December 31, 2013 consisted 
of instruments issued by General Electric Capital Services, Toyota Motor Credit Co., Bank of 
Tokyo-Mitsubishi, BNP Paribus Financial Inc., Deutsche Bank Financial LLC, and Credit Agricole 
Corp and Investment Bank. All obligations in which the Airport was invested were held in the 
Airport’s name by the Trust Department of the Airport’s custodial bank. 

The uncollateralized certificates of deposit instruments in which the Airport was invested at 
December 31, 2013 were unsecured short-term financing obligations issued by banks. In 
accordance with the requirements of the policy, these instruments were issued by domestic banks 
or domestic offices of foreign banks with ratings of at least “A-1” (or its equivalent) at the time of 
purchase by at least two NRSROs for maturities of one year or less and ratings of at least “AA” (or 
its equivalent) at the time of purchase by at least two NRSROs for maturities over one year and not 
exceeding two years. The uncollateralized certificates of deposit held at December 31, 2013 
consisted of instruments issued by Standard Chartered Bank. 
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The maturities of investments held at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were as follows: 

Investment Type 1-3 months 4-6 months 7-9 months 10-12 months 13 -36 months Total

Investment in money market mutual funds

First American Government

  Obligation Fund 8,886$          -$          -$          -$                -$               8,886$            

Securities

U.S. Treasury -                -            -            24,642            7,056             31,698            

U.S. government sponsored 

enterprises 6,152            -            50,164      6,071              9,804             72,191            

Commercial paper 27,090          7,994        -            -                  -                 35,084            

Total 42,128$         7,994$        50,164$      30,713$           16,860$           147,859$         

Investment Type 1-3 months 4-6 months 7-9 months 10-12 months 13 -36 months Total

Securities

U.S. Treasury 5,711$          -$          3,480$      -$                16,608$         25,799$          

U.S. government sponsored 

enterprises 10,444          7,521        5,476        11,787            48,049           83,277            

Commercial paper 29,066          4,997        -            -                  -                 34,063            

Uncollateralized certificates

of deposit 11,000          -            -            -                  -                 11,000            

Total 56,221$         12,518$      8,956$        11,787$          64,657$           154,139$         

2014 Investment Maturities (at fair value)

2013 Investment Maturities (at fair value)

 

All securities held by the Airport at December 31, 2014 and 2013 carried ratings of AAA/Aaa or 
their equivalents, the highest quality rating strata issued by the NRSROs. 
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3. Restricted Assets 

The following assets at December 31, 2014 and 2013 are subject to restrictions which limit the 
purposes for which they may be used: 

2014 2013

Available for Current Operations Account Group
PFC Revenue Accounts 1,194$         1,500$         

Restricted for Debt Service Account Group
Bond Reserve Account 5,219$          25,568$        
Bond Interest and Redemption Account 968              16,422         

                                                 6,187$          41,990$        

Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group
Construction and Land Accounts 66,775$        72,929$        
Depreciation Account 1,016           1,984           
PFC Project Account 42,263         39,622         
CFC Account 32,714         29,008         
Police Forfeiture Accounts 1,080           1,116           
Debt Service and/or Improvements to Airport Accounts 49,230         48,513         
Demolition of Excess Facilities Account 7,432           -                   

200,510       193,172       
Capital assets, non-depreciable 206,858       206,805       
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation 549,143       581,114       

956,511$      981,091$      

Internal Service Fund
Self-funded Health Coverage Account 5,759$          5,459$          

 

Assets included in the PFC Revenue Accounts are restricted for the payment of PFC bond principal 
and interest and, if not needed for debt service, for transfer to the PFC Project Account at year-end. 
Assets included in the Bond Reserve and the Bond Interest and Redemption Accounts are restricted 
for the payment of bond principal and interest.  Assets included in the Construction and Land 
Accounts are restricted for capital projects and land acquisitions.  Assets in the Depreciation 
Account may be used for special or unforeseen emergencies, repairs and replacements and for 
additions to Airport facilities. Assets included in the PFC Project Account are restricted for use on 
specific FAA approved projects. Assets in the CFC Account may be used on specific Board 
approved projects. Assets in the Police Forfeiture Accounts are restricted for expenditures 
allowable under the Equitable Sharing Programs of the U.S. Department of Justice, U.S. 
Department of Treasury, and the Commonwealth of Kentucky. Assets included in the Demolition 
of Excess Facilities Account are to be used to fund the demolition of excess facilities at the airport.  

Assets in the Debt Service and/or Improvements to Airport Accounts are held for improvements 
and expansions to the Airport or early retirement of debt in accordance with the use agreements. In 
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the event of cash flow needs, assets in these accounts may be temporarily used to finance operating 
expenditures; and with the approval of the signatory airlines, they may be transferred and used as a 
source of operating revenues. During 2014 and 2013, as permitted by the use agreements, and with 
the approval of the signatory airlines, a total of $0 and $1,000, respectively, of the funds 
accumulated in the Debt Service and/or Improvements to Airport Accounts was transferred each 
year to the Available for Current Operations Account Group and applied as an additional source of 
operating revenues.  As the purpose of these transfers was to reduce the amount required to be 
collected from the airlines through landing fees, these amounts have been classified as landing fees 
in the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position. 

4. Capital Assets 

Capital assets are comprised of the following: 

Balance Additions/ Retirements/ Balance Additions/ Retirements/ Balance
1/1/2013 transfers transfers 12/31/2013 transfers transfers 12/31/2014

Land (non-depreciable) 166,076$           -$                           -$                      166,076$           53$                  -$                      166,129$           
Runways, taxiways 
   and other land improvements 631,801           33,473             (16,555)            648,719           9,725               (7,088)              651,356           
Buildings and building renovations 353,508           2,120               (866)                 354,762           2,901               (439)                 357,224           
Utility systems 85,178             -                       (50)                   85,128             -                       -                   85,128             
Equipment 127,024           974                  (476)                 127,522           1,434               (1,268)              127,688           
Easements (non-depreciable) 40,729             -                             -                             40,729             -                             -                             40,729             
Construction-in-progress 12,291             27,876             (36,448)            3,719               15,946             (12,730)            6,935               

Total capital assets 1,416,607        64,443             (54,395)            1,426,655        30,059             (21,525)            1,435,189        
Less accumulated depreciation

Runways, taxiways 
   and other land improvements 394,778           24,151             (15,273)            403,656           24,765             (7,034)              421,387           
Buildings and building renovations 103,648           13,787             (153)                 117,282           13,729             (201)                 130,810           
Utility systems 51,477             4,056               (54)                             55,479             3,599               -                             59,078             
Equipment 55,868             6,799               (348)                 62,319             6,622               (1,028)              67,913             

Total accumulated depreciation 605,771           48,793             (15,828)            638,736           48,715             (8,263)              679,188           
Total capital assets, net of
   accumulated depreciation 810,836$         15,650$           (38,567)$          787,919$         (18,656)$          (13,262)$          756,001$         

Total non-depreciable capital assets 206,805$         -$                           -$                 206,805$         53$                  -$                 206,858$         
Total depreciable capital assets, net of
   accumulated depreciation 604,031           15,650             (38,567)            581,114           (18,709)            (13,262)            549,143           
Total capital assets, net of
   accumulated depreciation 810,836$           15,650$             (38,567)$           787,919$           (18,656)$           (13,262)$           756,001$           

 
Capital assets purchased are reported at cost. Easements are acquired and attached in perpetuity to 
the deeds of certain parcels purchased and/or sound insulated in the Airport’s land and noise 
mitigation programs. Accordingly, the costs of obtaining these easements are recorded as land until 
such time as the easement documents are executed. Thereafter, the costs are transferred and 
recorded as easements. Those assets acquired through donation or contractual reversion of 
ownership are reported at the fair value determined at the time of ownership transfer.  The costs of 
construction projects are recorded as construction-in-process until such time as the projects are 
substantially complete. Upon substantial completion, the costs are transferred to the appropriate 
fixed asset classification as shown in the above table. 
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Related to construction-in-process and capital assets, the Airport had contract retainage, accounts 
payable, and interaccount group payables of $5,193 and $4,735 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, 
respectively. 

Idle Facilities 

Office Facility 
In 2011, the Board purchased from Delta Airlines, Inc. (“Delta”) the former headquarters building 
of Comair, Inc. (“Comair”), a 184 thousand square foot office facility which is located on the 
Airport.  This acquisition, for which the Board paid the negotiated price of $4,000, was made for 
the purpose of generating and diversifying future rental revenues.  
 
During 2014, the Board began construction and renovation in various facilities at the Airport for 
the purpose of re-locating all tenants and Board functions from Terminals 1 and 2, thereby 
facilitating the demolition of those facilities (See Note 1).   When the construction and renovation 
activities are completed, the Board’s administrative offices and personnel will re-locate and occupy 
a significant portion of the office facility while continuing to actively seek tenants for the 
remaining portions.  
 
Concourse C 
In 2009, Comair, which was the sole airline tenant in the Airport’s Concourse C, moved all of its 
operations from Concourse C to other facilities at the Airport.   Upon completion of Comair’s 
transfer of operations in 2009, Concourse C ceased to be utilized. Due to this change in the 
expected duration of use of Concourse C, which was first occupied in 1994, and the fact that there 
was no evidence to suggest that the reduction in utilization is temporary, Concourse C was 
determined to be an impaired asset under GASB Statement No. 42. Accordingly, building and 
equipment assets, as well as their accumulated depreciation, were written off. 
 
Although Comair ceased all operations in Concourse C, pursuant to a 1993 lease agreement and 
subsequent 2001 amendment (“Amended Lease”), Comair continued to be committed to pay 
certain charges, which are discussed below, related to Concourse C. In December 2012, Comair, 
which had been a wholly owned subsidiary of Delta, was merged with Delta. As of the merger 
date, all real estate leases and other obligations of Comair, including those related to Concourse C, 
were assigned to Delta by operation of law. 
  
After the write-offs discussed above and the depreciation through 2014, the remaining amount of 
net book value related to Concourse C is $2,909, which represents the remaining amount of fixed 
rentals Delta is committed to pay through 2015 pursuant to the Amended Lease.   Through 2015, 
Delta is also committed to reimburse certain operations and maintenance costs, the charges for 
which will be determined by a triennial calculation which is outlined in the Amended Lease.   From 
2016 through 2025, Delta is committed to pay fixed rentals based on the fair market value of the 
facility as determined at that time and to reimburse certain operations and maintenance charges to 
be calculated based on the rates and charges calculated as part of the Airport’s successor use 
agreement with the signatory airlines. 
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Useful Lives 
The Airport’s capital assets are depreciated over useful lives as follows: 

Years

Runways, taxiways and other land improvements  15 - 31.5
Buildings 25 - 40
Building improvements and renovations 10 - 20
Utility systems 20 - 40
Equipment 3 - 30  
 
Substantially all capital assets of the Airport are held for direct or indirect utilization in the 
Airport’s principal activities of leasing land, buildings and airfield facilities to third party lessees.   
 

5. Lease of Airport Facilities 

Airport facilities are leased to third parties to serve the public through the operation of airline 
terminal and airfield facilities, as well as through concession and warehousing operations.    

The concession agreements generally provide for the Airport’s receipt of fixed rentals plus certain 
contingent rentals which are based on the tenants’ gross revenues.  Contingent rentals amounted to 
$8,391 and $8,691 for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

For the years 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, minimum future rentals for noncancelable leases 
(other than noncancelable rentals charged to the signatory airlines under the use agreements and 
other long-term terminal facility leases) are $8,402, $5,154, $3,933, $2,984 and $2,699, 
respectively. 

For the years 2015, 2016, 2017, 2018 and 2019, noncancelable rentals under the use agreements 
(exclusive of landing fees) and other long-term terminal facility leases pertaining to the signatory 
airlines are $17,862, $15,188, $15,188, $15,188 and $15,188, respectively. 
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6. Long-Term Liabilities 

During 2014 and 2013, the Airport’s long-term liabilities and related activity consisted of the 
following: 

Revenue Bonds 
A summary of revenue bonds payable at December 31, 2014 and 2013 is presented below.  The 
respective maturities occur on March 1. 

2014 2013

Series 2002A, 4.750% to 5.625%, due 2014-2015 -$                   15,275$         
Series 2003B, 4.875% to 5.500%, due 2017-2033 58,590           64,795           
Series 2003C, 4.000% to 4.250%, due 2014-2015 -                     5,005             
Series 2007B, 4.150% to 5.000%, due 2014-2015 -                     15,355           

58,590           100,430         
Funded revenue bonds payable -                     (14,779)          

58,590$          85,651$           
 
All of the bonds listed above were issued under the terms of bond resolutions adopted by the Board 
and bear interest rates fixed through the date on which they are required to be redeemed. In 
accordance with the applicable bond resolution, the 2003B bonds outstanding at December 31, 
2014 became redeemable in 2013 without premium. 
 
Under the terms of the bond resolutions, all revenue bonds outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 
2013 are secured by the operating revenues of the Airport, except those operating revenues which 
have, in accordance with the resolutions, been returned to the PFC Project Account in the 
Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group. The Series 2003B bonds were issued to fund the 
costs of specific PFC eligible, FAA approved projects. As such, the debt service requirements of 
the Series 2003B bonds are authorized by the FAA to be paid with PFCs (see Note 1). 
 
The required funding of bond principal and interest subsequent to December 31, 2014 is as follows:

Total
Principal Interest Debt Service

2015 -$                        2,903$                    2,903$                    
2016 1,880                      2,903                      4,783                      
2017 2,359                      2,799                      5,158                      
2018 2,488                      2,669                      5,157                      
2019 2,614                      2,543                      5,157                      
2020-2024 15,174                    10,621                    25,795                    
2025-2029 19,279                    6,516                      25,795                    
2030-2033 14,796                    1,544                      16,340                    

58,590$                  32,498$                  91,088$                    
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Bond Redemption 
Pursuant to a November 18, 2013 resolution of the Board, on March 1, 2014, $9,490 of the Series 
2002A, $2,550 of the Series 2003C and $7,840 of the Series 2007B bonds, maturing on March 1, 
2015, were redeemed. The redemptions were funded utilizing the $19,880 of applicable balances in 
the Bond Reserve Accounts and $477 of excess interest funding in the Interest and Redemption 
Account of the Restricted for Debt Service Account Group. The redemption amounts are included 
in the December 31, 2014 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position and in 
the December 31, 2014 Statement of Cash Flows. 

Pursuant to an August 29, 2014 resolution of the Board, on October 15, 2014, $2,065 and $2,160 of 
the Series 2003B bonds maturing March 1, 2015 and 2016, respectively, were redeemed. The 
redemptions were funded utilizing $2,848 from the PFC Project Account of the Restricted for 
Airport Facilities Account Group and an early release of $1,377 from the Interest and Redemption 
Account of the Restricted for Debt Service Account Group, with such amount of principal funding 
having already been transferred to the account through previous debt service contributions.  The 
redemption amounts are included in the December 31, 2014 Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and 
Changes in Net Position and in the December 31, 2014 Statement of Cash Flows. 

Compensated Absences 
Employees accrue vacation leave based on amounts of regularly scheduled work hours and length 
of service. Employees can accumulate up to 30 days of vacation time and are paid for all 
accumulated vacation time upon separation of employment for any reason. All accumulated 
vacation time is accrued and included in the accrued expenses liability on the balance sheets. 

 
Sick leave is earned by employees at the rate of one day per month of service, with the maximum 
accumulation for each employee being 60 days of sick leave. Employees are paid for all 
accumulated sick time upon retirement from the Airport, death or other employment separation 
when eligible for retirement. Accumulated sick leave is accrued when an employee’s age and/or 
years of service are within five years of the minimum age or years of service required for 
retirement under the provisions of the pension plan in which the Airport’s employees participate 
(see Note 10). Amounts related to accrued compensated absences are shown below. 
 
Other Long-Term Liabilities 
At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Airport’s other liabilities which have portions due after one 
year consisted of rental and identification badge deposits, estimated amounts potentially due for 
incidents not covered by commercial insurance, and estimated amounts due under a frequent 
parking rewards program. Amounts related to these liabilities are shown below. 
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Long-Term Liability Activity 
For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, components of the Airport’s liabilities which 
had non-current activity or balances were as follows:         

Balance Balance Amounts Due Amounts Due
1/1/2014 Additions Reductions 12/31/2014 within One Year after One Year

Accounts Payable
   Deposits 305$                  70$          (178)$          197$            166$                   31$                     
Accrued Expenses
   Compensated Absences 2,491                 792          (694)            2,589           400                     2,189                  
   Uninsured losses 60                      209          (222)            47                27                       20                       
   Parking rewards 375                    74            (1)                448              222                     226                     
Revenue bonds payable 100,430             -           (41,840)       58,590         -                      58,590                

103,661$           1,145$     (42,935)$     61,871$       815$                   61,056$              

Balance Balance Amounts Due Amounts Due
1/1/2013 Additions Reductions 12/31/2013 within One Year after One Year

Accounts Payable
   Deposits 299$                  85$          (79)$            305$            123$                   182$                   
Accrued Expenses
   Compensated Absences 2,355                 684          (548)            2,491           396                     2,095                  
   Uninsured losses 170                    136          (246)            60                -                      60                       
   Parking rewards 290                    93            (8)                375              171                     204                     
Revenue bonds payable 121,335             -           (20,905)       100,430       39,336                61,094                

124,449$           998$        (21,786)$     103,661$     40,026$              63,635$              

 

7. Special Facility Revenue Bonds 

Special Facility Revenue Bonds (“SFRBs”), Series 2001A totaling $22,500, were issued in 
July 2001 to finance the construction of a pilot training facility for FlightSafety International, Inc. 
("FlightSafety"). Although taking the legal form of a financing lease between the Board and 
FlightSafety, the substance of the arrangement is that the SFRBs constitute special and limited 
obligations and do not constitute a debt, liability or general obligation of the Board or the Airport 
or a pledge of Airport revenues.  As such, no liability relating to the SFRBs is included in the 
accompanying financial statements. Information related to the amounts outstanding on the SFRBs 
is not readily available to management of the Airport. For additional information regarding the 
SRFBs, readers should contact FlightSafety. 

8. Major Lessees 

In 2014, the operating revenues received from Delta and from DHL Worldwide Express, Inc. 
(“DHL”), a major cargo carrier at the Airport, represented approximately 23.57% and 11.40%, 
respectively, of total operating revenues. The comparable amounts for 2013 for Delta and DHL 
were 25.77% and 13.85%, respectively. 
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Landing fees received from Delta and DHL in 2014 represented 33.12% and 47.57%, respectively, 
of total billed landing fees. The comparable amounts for 2013 for Delta  and DHL were 37.46% 
and 45.34% of total landing fees, respectively. 

9. Internal Service Fund 

The Airport provides health, dental, group life, individual life, accidental death and 
dismemberment, and long-term disability insurance coverages to employees. Effective January 1, 
2009, the Airport assumed the risk financing of the health and dental coverages through self-
funding of claims, subject to certain individual stop loss and group aggregate limits. Commercially 
procured coverages assume any liabilities for claims which exceed the established limits. Third 
party administrators are utilized to manage the claims handling activities of the plans.  

Pursuant to a December 2008 resolution of the Board and as provided for under GASB Statement 
No. 34, an ISF was established effective January 1, 2009 to be used and restricted for the purpose 
of funding and managing all financial activities of the self-funded health coverages. Such activities 
include contributions to the ISF, the payment of claims, the payment of fees and expenses, and the 
establishment and maintenance of reserves.  

The ISF’s primary funding source is contributions from the Available for Current Operations 
Account Group.   These contributions are included in salaries, wages and benefits expense on the 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position.   Contributions are also made by 
employees through payroll deductions and by the Restricted for Airport Facilities Account Group 
for the insurance portion of labor costs incurred on capital projects.   

As permitted by GASB Statement No. 34, the Airport has established reserves in the ISF for future 
catastrophe losses and the smoothing of cash flows.   The Airport maintains these reserves up to an 
amount equaling one year of expected claims plus estimated fees and expenses.  The reserves at 
December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 represent one year of claims, fees and expenses as 
expected at those dates.    

Any assets of the ISF which are determined by the Airport’s Chief Financial Officer to no longer 
be necessary for the self-funded health coverage programs cease to be restricted and are refunded 
to the Available for Current Operations Account Group in the period in which the determination is 
made.   
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The changes in the balances of the claims liability and reserves consisted of the following: 

Claims
Liability 

Liability at January 1, 2013 377$                
  Claims and changes in estimates for 2013 4,063               
  Claims paid in 2013 (4,231)              
  Changes in receivables and prepaids
     related to claims (25)                   
 Liability at December 31, 2013 184$                
  Claims and changes in estimates for 2014 4,263               
  Claims paid in 2014 (4,276)              
  Changes in receivables and prepaids
     related to claims 143                  
 Liability at December 31, 2014 314$                

Reserve
Reserves at January 1, 2013 4,868$             
  Contributions from all sources 4,724               
  Investment Income 21                    
  Claims, premiums, and fees incurred (4,586)              
Reserves at December 31, 2013 5,027$            
  Contributions from all sources 4,909               
  Investment Income 23                   
  Claims, premiums, and fees incurred (4,872)              
Reserves at December 31, 2014 5,087$            

 

The Airport purchases both aggregate and specific stop loss coverage for the health insurance 
coverage of the ISF.  The specific stop loss insurance assumes the risk for claims on any individual 
covered by the plan. During 2014 and 2013, the individual stop loss coverage to which the 
Airport's claims liability was limited was $140. The aggregate insurance during 2014 and 2013 
provided full coverage for aggregate claims in excess of 125% of expected claims amounts 
actuarially calculated by a third party. These amounts, given enrollment levels, limited total health 
coverage risk financing by the Airport during 2014 and 2013 to approximately $4,352 and $4,054 
each year, respectively.    
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10. Retirement Plans and Postretirement Benefits 

The Airport and its employees participate in various retirement plans as follows: 

Defined Benefit Plan 
All full-time employees of the Board as of December 31, 2013 are members of the Kentucky 
Retirement Systems’ County Employees Retirement System (“CERS”), a cost-sharing multiple-
employer defined benefit pension plan which was created by the Kentucky General Assembly 
pursuant to the provisions of KRS Section 78.520.  The CERS is administered by the Board of 
Trustees of the Kentucky Retirement Systems under the provisions of KRS Section 61.645 and 
provides retirement, disability and death benefits to its members.  Employee contribution rates as 
well as benefits of the CERS are established by KRS. Employer contribution rates are determined 
by the Board of Trustees of the CERS.  Benefits to be paid from the CERS are calculated as a 
multiple of final average compensation and the participant’s number of years of service.  System 
participants become fully vested in the CERS after the completion of sixty months of service, 
twelve of which are current service. 

In April 2013, Kentucky passed Senate Bill 2 into law, which adopted a hybrid cash balance 
retirement plan for new state and local public employees who commenced employment on or after 
January 1, 2014. The hybrid cash plan replaces the cost sharing defined benefit pension plan, 
redefining the defined benefit of the formula-based annuity which participants would have 
previously received during retirement with a lump sum benefit, or accumulated account balance, at 
the individual participant’s retirement date. The accumulated account balance is composed of 
contributions from the participant during their employment period, an employer contribution, or 
pay credit, equal to a percentage of compensation paid to the participant during their employment 
period, and an interest credit added to the accumulated balance each year during the participant’s 
employment period. At the participant retirement date, the accumulated account balance is 
converted to either a lump sum payment or a monthly annuity, at which point the retirement benefit 
becomes fixed and no additional pay credits or interest credits are accrued to the outstanding 
balance.  

Under the provisions of KRS Section 61.701, the Board of Trustees of the Kentucky Retirement 
Systems also administers the Kentucky Retirement Systems Insurance Fund (“Insurance Fund”), an 
insurance fund established to provide group hospital and medical benefits to retirees drawing 
benefits from the pension plans administered by the Kentucky Retirement Systems.  The cost of 
insurance premiums is funded by a combination of employer contributions, as determined by the 
Board of Trustees of the Insurance Fund, and amounts withheld from benefit payments to members 
of the pension plans.  The portion of a member’s insurance premiums which is covered by 
employer contributions is based on several factors including whether the member’s position is 
considered by KRS to be hazardous or non-hazardous, the coverage elected by the member and the 
member’s years of service in the CERS. 
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The following table contains certain contribution and actuarial information related to the CERS and 
the CERS portion of the Insurance Fund: 

Non 
Hazardous Hazardous

Non 
Hazardous Hazardous

Comparative Contribution Information

Employee contribution rates 2014, 2013 and 2012

   Employees hired prior to September 2008 5.00% 8.00% -             -             

   Employees hired September 2008 and thereafter 6.00% 9.00% -             -             

Employer contribution rates:

     January 1, 2014 - June 30, 2014 13.74% 21.77% 5.15% 13.93%

     July 1, 2014 - December 31, 2014 12.75% 20.73% 4.92% 13.58%

     January 1, 2013 - June 30, 2013 12.62% 20.10% 6.93% 17.50%

     July 1, 2013 - December 31, 2013 13.74% 21.77% 5.15% 13.93%

     January 1, 2012 - June 30, 2012 11.70% 17.85% 7.26% 17.91%

     July 1, 2012 - December 31, 2012 12.62% 20.10% 6.93% 17.50%

Airport employee contributions

     2014 831$           571$          -$           -$           

     2013 802$           557$          -$           -$           

     2012 761$           554$          -$           -$           

Airport contributions

     2014 2,069$        1,492$       787$          965$           

     2013 2,009$        1,446$       920$          1,089$        

     2012 1,775$        1,311$       1,035$       1,223$        

Amount of payroll on which Airport and

      employee contributions were based

     2014 15,622$      7,019$       15,622$     7,019$        

     2013 15,236$      6,912$       15,236$     6,912$        

     2012 14,591$      6,909$       14,591$     6,909$        

Contributions made by Airport and employees

     as a percentage of contributions 

     required of Airport and employees

     2014, 2013 and 2012 100% 100% 100% 100%

Approximate percentage of total system and

     Insurance Fund (CERS portion) 
     contributions represented by Airport

     and Airport employees' contributions

     2014 0.64% 1.30% 0.64% 1.30%

     2013 0.67% 1.22% 0.51% 1.26%

     2012 0.64% 1.56% 0.54% 1.33%

CERS Portion of
CERS Insurance Fund
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Non Hazardous Hazardous

Non 
Hazardous Hazardous

Actuarial Information from the
 Kentucky Retirement Systems' 
 June 30, 2014 audited financial
 statements
Actuarial value of assets ("AVA") 6,117,134$       1,967,640$      1,831,199$      997,733$        
Actuarial accrued liability ("AAL") 9,772,523 3,288,826 2,616,915 1,493,864

(3,655,389)$     (1,321,186)$     (785,716)$       (496,131)$      

AVA as a percentage of AAL 62.60% 59.83% 69.98% 66.79%

Excess AAL as a percentage of
   total covered payroll 160.90% 275.70% 34.60% 103.50%

Actuarial cost method Entry Age 
Normal Cost

Entry Age 
Normal Cost

Entry Age 
Normal Cost

Entry Age 
Normal Cost

Amortization method Level Percent 
Closed

Level Percent 
Closed

Level Percent 
Closed

Level Percent 
Closed

Remaining amortization period 29 years 29 years 29 years 29 years

Asset valuation method Five-year Five-year Five-year Five-year 
smoothed 
market

smoothed 
market

smoothed 
market

smoothed 
market

Actuarial assumptions

   Investment return 7.75% 7.75% 7.75% 7.75%
   Projected salary increases 4.75%-13.0% 4.5%-20.0%
   Inflation rate 3.50% 3.50% 3.50% 3.50%

CERS Portion of
CERS Insurance Fund

 
  
Additional information related to the CERS and/or the Insurance Fund may be obtained directly 
from Kentucky Retirement Systems at 1260 Louisville Road Perimeter Park West, Frankfort, KY, 
40601. 
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Deferred Compensation Plans 
The Airport’s employees are also eligible to participate in two deferred compensation plans which 
are authorized under KRS Sections 18A.230 – 18A.275 and administered by the Kentucky Public 
Employees’ Deferred Compensation Authority (“KDCA”).  These plans are organized as a Section 
457 plan and as a Section 401(k) plan under the Internal Revenue Code.  Both plans permit 
employees to defer a portion of their compensation until future years. Deferred compensation is not 
available to employees until termination, retirement or death, or in certain circumstances of 
financial hardship.  There were no employer contributions to the 457 or 401(k) plans for the years 
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.  Employee contributions in total were approximately $835 
and $856, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013.  
 
Additional information about the deferred compensation plans may be obtained from the Kentucky 
Public Employees’ Deferred Compensation Authority at 105 Sea Hero Road, Suite 1, Frankfort, 
Kentucky 40601-8862. 
 

11. Risk Management 

The Airport is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction 
of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; general liability claims; and natural 
disasters.  The Airport manages these risks through the purchase of commercial insurance. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

At December 31, 2014, the Airport is committed, either through contracts or Board proceedings, to 
the eventual expenditure of approximately $7,058, which consists primarily of additions to Airport 
facilities through construction activities. Of the total estimated costs, approximately $4,931 will be 
funded by federal grants, PFCs, CFCs and/or tenant funds, with the remainder to be funded by 
available capital funds. 

 
 

 


